# University of Alberta

PPARy Regulates Airway Epithelial Ion Transport

by

Norman Charles Madsen



A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

Department of Physiology

Edmonton, Alberta Fall 2006

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-22310-9 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-22310-9

### NOTICE:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

### AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis. Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.



## Abstract

Peroxisome Proliferator activated receptors (PPARs) are widely expressed lipid-sensitive nuclear receptors that are involved in the regulation of metabolism. PPARγ is a therapeutic target in the treatment of diabetes and insulin resistance that is expressed in the lung epithelium. The function of these receptors in the lung is widely unknown and their effects on lung epithelial ion transport have not been evaluated. Normal human bronchial epithelial (NHBE) cell monolayers were mounted in Ussing chambers and changes in the short-circuit current (SCC) after 48 hours incubation with PPARγ agonists were measured. PPARγ agonists reduced SCC in response to stimulation by carbachol and forskolin. The response to apical ATP was increased, while the basolateral ATP response was decreased. CFTR promoter activity was increased while protein expression was unaffected. Bicarbonate secretion was reduced due to decreased expression of NBC1 protein. PPARγ regulates the transcription of ion transport proteins in the lung epithelium.

For my family, who have always supported me in my academic endeavors.

# **Table of Contents**

Chapter 1 Introduction	1
1.1 Airway epithelial ion transport	2
1.1.1 Chloride Channels	3
1.1.1.1 The Cystic Fibrosis Transmembrane Conductance Regulator: CFTR	4
1.1.1.2 Calcium-activated Chloride Channels: CaCC	4
1.1.1.3 Voltage-gated Chloride Channels: ClC	5
1.1.1.4 Outward-Rectifying Chloride Channels: ORCC	5
1.1.2 ENaC: Epithelial Sodium Channel	6
1.1.3 Potassium Channels	6
1.1.3.1 cAMP-gated K <sup>+</sup> Channels	7
1.1.3.2 Ca <sup>2+</sup> -gated K <sup>+</sup> Channels	7
1.2 Airway epithelial cell surface receptors	8
1.2.1 P2 Purine Receptors: ATP Receptors	8
1.2.2 P1 Purine Receptors: Adenosine Receptors	9
1.2.3 Muscarinic Receptors	.10
1.3 PPARγ physiology	.10
1.4 Hypothesis and Specific Aims	.13
Chapter 2 Materials and Methods	15
2.1 Materials	.15
2.2 Cell Culture	16
2.3 Ussing Chamber Experiments	17
2.3.1 Intact Cell Measurements	.17
2.3.1.1 Experiments in Normal Krebs-Heinslett Solutions	17
2.3.1.2 Experiments in Low-Chloride KHS	.19
2.3.1.3 Experiments in Bicarbonate-free KHS	.19
2.3.2 Apical Membrane Studies	20
2.3.3 Basolateral Membrane Studies	.20

2.3.3.1 Bicarbonate Transporter Studies	20
2.3.3.2 Potassium Channel Studies	21
2.4 Quantitative PCR	22
2.5 Western Blot	24
2.6 Promoter Studies	25
2.7 Statistical Analysis	26

Chapter 3 Results	.27
3.1 Ussing Chamber Results	.27
3.1.1 Intact Cell Experiments	.27
3.1.1.1 Experiments in Normal KHS	.27
3.1.1.2 Experiments in Low-Chloride KHS	35
3.1.1.3 Experiments in Bicarbonate-free KHS	37
3.1.2 Apical Membrane Studies	.38
3.1.3 Basolateral Membrane Studies	40
3.1.3.1 Bicarbonate Studies	40
3.1.3.2 Potassium Channel Studies	.41
3.2 Quantitative PCR Studies	41
3.3 Western Blot	44
3.4 Promoter Studies	.46

Chapter 4 Discussion	48
4.1 Physiological Roles of PPARγ	48
4.2 PPARγ as a regulator of ion transport	49
4.3 Potential role of PPARγ agonists in disease therapy	54

Chapter 5 Conclusion	
Bibliography	60

# **List of Tables**

# Chapter 2

Table 2.1: Anion secretion modulators and their use in Ussing chamber experiments....18

### Chapter 3

Table 3.1: Summary of baseline characteristics and amiloride responses of NHBE cells	
after treatment with pioglitazone	27
Table 3.2: Summary of SCC responses to activators of secretion	34
Table 3.3: Effect of ion transport inhibitors on SCC after bilateral forskolin treatment	35

# **List of Figures**

# **Chapter 1**

Figure 1.1: Scanning electron micrograph of bovine tracheal wall	2
Figure 1.2: Mechanism of PPAR activation of transcription	11

# Chapter 2

Figure 2.1: A typical NHBE monolayer SCC response to carbachol showing a biphasic	
response1	8

# Chapter 3

Figure 3.1.1: Representative recordings showing forskolin response in control,
pioglitazone-treated and GW1929-treated monolayers
Figure 3.1.2: Representative SCC responses to carbachol in NHBE monolayers29
Figure 3.1.3: Representative SCC responses to NECA applied to the apical membrane30
Figure 3.1.4: Representative recordings of basolateral responses to NECA after apical
NECA
Figure 3.1.5: Typical response to ATP applied to the apical solution
Figure 3.1.5: Summary of the second-phase apical ATP response32
Figure 3.1.7: Typical response of NHBE monolayers to ATP in the basolateral
solution
Figure 3.1.8: Representative NHBE responses to forskolin in low-chloride KHS36
Figure 3.1.9: Representative NHBE monolayer responses to carbachol in low-chloride
KHS
Figure 3.1.10: Representative responses to forskolin in bicarbonate-free KHS
Figure 3.1.11; Representative carbachol responses from NHBE monolayers in
bicarbonate-free KHS
Figure 3.1.12: Apical membrane response to forskolin
Figure 3.1.13: I-V Plot of the DNDS-sensitive current in NHBE monolayers in the
presence of a basolateral to apical sodium gradient40
Figure 3.2.1: CFTR mRNA expression after PPARγ agonist treatment

Figure 3.2.2: NBC1 mRNA expression after PPARy agonist treatment	43
Figure 3.2.3: Quantification of NKCC1 mRNA in NHBE cells treated with PPAR $\gamma$	
agonists	44
Figure 3.3.1: Expression of CFTR protein in NHBE cells treated with pioglitazone	45
Figure 3.3.2: Expression of NBC1 in NHBE cells	46
Figure 3.4: Relative activity of CFTR promoter plasmids	47

# List of Symbols, Nomenclature, and Abbreviations

- ASL Airway surface liquid
- ATP Adenosine Triphosphate
- $Ca^{2+} Calcium$  ions
- CaCC Calcium-activated chloride channels
- CF Cystic Fibrosis
- CFTR Cystic Fibrosis Transmembrane Conductance Regulator
- Cl<sup>-</sup> Chloride ions
- ClC Voltage-sensitive chloride channels
- DNDS 4,4'-dinitrostilbene-2,2'-disulphonic acid
- 1-EBIO 1-ethyle-2-benzimidazolinone
- ENaC Epithelial sodium channel
- $\Delta$ F508 Deletion of phenylalanine residue at position 508
- HCO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> Bicarbonate ions
- Na<sup>+</sup> Sodium ions
- NBC1 Sodium-bicarbonate cotransporter subtype 1
- NECA 5'-(n-ethylcarboxamido)adenosine
- NHBE Normal human bronchial epithelium
- NKCC1 Sodium-potassium-chloride cotransporter subtype 1
- K<sup>+</sup> Potassium ions
- ORCC Outward-rectifying chloride channels
- PPAR Peroxisome Proliferator Activated Receptor
- SCC Short-Circuit Current
- TPAC tetrapentylammonium chloride

## Chapter 1 Introduction

### 1. Introduction

Many airway diseases are characterized by alterations in the production of the airway surface liquid (ASL) that lines the airways. ASL is a complex fluid composed of proteins, lipids, and salt that is secreted from the epithelia lining the airway. Changes to ASL can cause impaired mucociliary clearance, chronic infection, and, as a result, airway obstruction in affected patients. Epithelial cells regulate ion movement and secrete proteins and, as a consequence, regulate ASL composition. The modulation of ionic secretions in response to stimuli is an important role of airway epithelial cells. Identification of molecules that can alter the normal response of airway epithelial cells to various stimuli may be therapeutically beneficial in a variety of airway diseases. By altering the physiological properties of airway epithelial cells pharmacologically, ASL can be modulated to ameliorate the symptoms of certain airway diseases.

Cystic Fibrosis (CF) is an autosomal recessive genetic disease resulting from mutations in the Cystic Fibrosis Transmembrane Conductance Regulator (CFTR). The clinical manifestations of CF in the lung are the production of thick, sticky mucus and persistent infection. CFTR functions are described in 1.1.3.1. Mutations in CFTR cause decreased anion secretion in the lung by reduction of CFTR activity, reduced expression of CFTR at the plasma membrane, non-functioning CFTR, truncated CFTR, or lack of expression (2). The most common mutation is  $\Delta$ F508, a deletion that results in impaired trafficking of CFTR to the plasma membrane. Current therapy focuses on increasing the activity of available CFTR, increasing the amount of CFTR on the plasma membrane, and removal of mucous from the airways. The focus of this thesis is on pharmacological

1

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

agents that can potentially alter the expression and/or activity of CFTR and increase anion secretion, potentially relieving symptoms of the disease.

### 1.1 Airway Epithelial Ion Transport

Ion transport is an essential function of airway epithelial cells. Maintenance of adequate airway surface liquid (ASL) ensures that mucus height allows mucociliary clearance to occur. Ion transport in human bronchial epithelia is polarized: cells express different transport proteins on the apical and basolateral membranes and have tight junctions separating the two membranes. Figure 1.1 shows a scanning electron micrograph of a bovine tracheal wall – the mucus, sol and cilia are visible. The sol layer consists of electrolytes and water secreted by various epithelial cells in the lung.



Figure 1.1. Scanning electron micrograph of bovine tracheal wall. M represents the mucous layer, S represents the sol layer, and C represents cilia. Adapted from Wu et al. 1998. (87)

The electrochemical gradient formed by activity of the  $Na^+/K^+$  ATPase in the basolateral membrane drives the diffusion of ions down their respective gradients and into the cell. Sodium diffuses down its electrochemical gradient and into the cell

through, in normal human bronchial epithelial (NHBE) cells, the epithelial sodium channel (ENaC). Potassium diffuses down its chemical gradient and out of the cell through a variety of basolateral potassium channels. Upon activation, chloride travels down its electrical gradient through CFTR and out of the cell. Calcium-activated chloride channels (CaCC) are also expressed in NHBE cells and their function is similar to CFTR. Sodium transport can also be coupled to the transport of other ions into the cell through 2° active transport. Of particular interest to this thesis are NBC1, the basolateral Na<sup>+</sup>/xHCO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> co-transporter, and NKCC1, the bumetanide-sensitive basolateral Na<sup>+</sup>/K<sup>+</sup>/2Cl<sup>-</sup> co-transporter. NKCC1 is the entry point of Cl<sup>-</sup> ions in the basolateral membrane and inhibition results in severe reduction in short-circuit current (SCC). NBC1 is an electrogenic entry point for HCO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> ions in NHBE cells. The activity of the different ion transporters is coordinated to allow the electrogenic secretion or absorption of ions to regulate the ASL height and composition.

### 1.1.1 Chloride Channels

NHBE cells express a variety of chloride channels that coordinate anion secretion. These channels are regulated by several different methods including cAMP,  $Ca^{2+}$ , and membrane potential. CFTR, calcium-activated chloride channels (CaCC), and voltagesensitive chloride channels (ClC) are apically expressed, while outward-rectifying chloride channels (ORCC) channels are expressed on the basolateral membrane. The electrical gradient created by Na<sup>+</sup>/K<sup>+</sup> ATPase drives anion efflux from NHBE cells. The selective opening of chloride channels will allow NHBE cells to control movement of chloride after stimulation with secretagogues. CFTR is responsible for the majority of chloride secretion in NHBE cells.

### 1.1.1.1 The Cystic Fibrosis Transmembrane Conductance Regulator: CFTR

The Cystic Fibrosis Transmembrane Regulator (CFTR) was identified in 1989 as the genetic defect in patients suffering from Cystic Fibrosis (62). Primary cultures of CF airway epithelia were observed to have reduced apical membrane chloride conductance (9). Single channel studies of CFTR showed that it has a single-channel chloride conductance of ~10pS and was activated by a cAMP-dependent signaling pathway (8). Several different mutations in CFTR can result in a CF phenotype, the most common of which is the  $\Delta$ F508. CFTR mutations result in degradation of immature CFTR, lack of CFTR synthesis, reduced expression, and impaired channel activity (58). Several different therapies are used to ameliorate lung-specific complications of CF, but effectiveness of these treatments are limited by mucous plugging observed in the diseased lung (17). In cases where CFTR-dependent anion secretion is decreased, orally active pharmacological agents that can increase CFTR expression on the apical membrane of airway epithelial cells could ameliorate airway symptoms of CF.

### 1.1.1.2 Calcium-activated Chloride Channels: CaCC

Calcium-activated chloride channels (CaCC) have been identified in the human trachea (1). Under normal physiological conditions, these channels are inhibited by CFTR (84). Their importance increases in airway disease, particularly in CF, where chloride conductance through CFTR is absent. UTP has been used clinically to increase anion secretion through the CaCC channels (7). These channels have also been found to be upregulated in asthma (36). Upregulation of CaCC channel function could increase the effectiveness of airway disease therapies that activate anion secretion via  $Ca^{2+}$ .

1.1.1.3 Voltage-sensitive Chloride Channels: CIC

ClC channels are alternate chloride channels in the lung epithelium that may have a role in cystic fibrosis. The expression of ClC-2 subtype has been observed in several human lung cell lines (15, 82), while ClC-5 has been observed in the lungs of adult rats (24). These channels are voltage-regulated and ClC-5 shows outward rectification at positive membrane potentials and may have a functional interaction with ENaC (53, 78). ClC-2 has been shown to increase Cl<sup>-</sup> flux in CF cells in response to changes in pH (70). ClC-2G has displayed regulation by cAMP in human lung (73). Increasing the function of these channels may be important to potential CF therapies.

### 1.1.1.4 Outward-Rectifying Chloride Channels: ORCC

Outward-Rectifying Chloride Channels have been observed in several airway epithelial cell lines including Calu-3, 16HBE14o-, 9HTEo-, and 56FHTE8o- (23, 38, 71). ORCC channels are involved in the selective secretion of bicarbonate during forskolin response in Calu-3 cells (23). These channels are regulated by CFTR and specific mutations in CFTR result in changes in CI<sup>-</sup> flux through ORCC (30, 72). Additionally, cAMP is unable to activate chloride currents through ORCC in CF cell lines (71). These discoveries were possible because ORCC channels display sensitivity to DIDS, while CFTR does not.

### 1.1.2 ENaC: Epithelial Sodium Channel

ENaC is an amiloride-sensitive sodium channel expressed in the apical membrane of NHBE cells (11). It is proposed to be a tetrameric protein composed of  $2\alpha 1\beta 1\gamma$ subunits – although other stoichiometries have been suggested (26). The  $\alpha$ -subunit is essential for channel function and is able to conduct sodium when co-expressed with only the  $\beta$ - or  $\gamma$ -subunit. ENaC is highly selective for sodium and has a low single-channel conductance of ~4-5 pS (11). In the lung, ENaC allows sodium to enter epithelial cells down its electrochemical gradient in the electrogenic absorption of sodium from the ASL. The osmotic coupling of water movement to sodium ion movement results in a net absorption of fluid from the ASL (75). Recent studies have shown that chloride can inhibit ENaC function (43, 47). This phenomenon is particularly important to CF, where hyperabsorption of sodium is observed in the lung (9).

### 1.1.3 Potassium Channels

Several basolateral potassium channels have been characterized in NHBE cells. These channels display differential regulation and functional characteristics. Regardless of how they are regulated, potassium channels are essential for maintenance of the membrane potential that drives both sodium absorption from and anion secretion into the ASL. Potassium efflux through these channels causes hyperpolarization of the cell membrane and increases the electrical force that drives ion movement across the epithelium. Calcium-activated and cAMP-activated potassium channels are of particular importance to anion secretion in normal human bronchial epithelium. Both channels

6

have been observed in NHBE cells and cAMP and  $Ca^{2+}$ -dependent signaling pathways activate anion secretion (50).

### 1.1.3.1 cAMP Gated K<sup>+</sup> Channels

McCann et al. (50) suggested that two types of potassium channels were responsible for anion secretion observed in airway epithelia. This was based on the observation that charybdotoxin, a calcium-activated potassium channel blocker, did not prevent anion secretion in response to increased cytosolic cAMP caused by isoproterenol. The KvLQT1 channel has been observed in 16HBE14o- and excised nasal polyps (49). This channel is cAMP-sensitive and its function in anion secretion is reduced in CF cells, although its expression is unaffected. These channels can be activated experimentally by forskolin or other compounds that increases cAMP concentrations in the vicinity of the channel. Cell surface receptors that activate cAMP are described in 1.2. These channels are sensitive to several pharmacological agents; in this thesis XE991 will be used to block cAMP-gated K<sup>+</sup> channels (46, 92).

### 1.1.3.2 Ca<sup>2+</sup>-Gated K<sup>+</sup> Channels

Calcium-dependent potassium channels, as the name suggests, increase K+ conductance in response to increased cytosolic  $Ca^{2+}$ . Two important  $Ca^{2+}$ -gated K<sup>+</sup> channels expressed in NHBE cells: both the Maxi-K<sup>+</sup> (BK) and the Intermediate-Conductance K<sup>+</sup> (IK) channel are present in bronchial epithelium (25, 48). BK channels are inhibited by tetrapentylammonium chloride, while IK channels are inhibited by clotrimazole – allowing the specific contributions of these channels to anion secretion to be isolated experimentally (12, 20). The opening of either BK or IK channels will result in hyperpolarization of the cell and anion secretion.

### 1.2 Airway Epithelial Cell Surface Receptors

Airway epithelial cells express a variety of cell surface receptors that can affect ion transport. Stimulation of these receptors activate  $2^{nd}$  messenger systems that alter the ion transport pathway through regulation of the transport proteins discussed in 1.2. Cell surface receptors expressed in airway epithelial cells include ATP receptors, adenosine receptors, and muscarinic receptors. These receptors all activate electrogenic ion secretion across airway epithelia, although different mechanisms are involved. Activation of these receptors result in the generation of second messengers such as cyclic AMP (cAMP), increased cytosolic Ca<sup>2+</sup>, or both. P1 and P2 Purine receptors and Muscarinic M<sub>3</sub> receptors are involved in anion secretion in normal human bronchial epithelia.

### 1.2.1 P2 Purine Receptors: ATP receptors

Several sub-types of ATP receptors have been identified in airway epithelial cells lines. Experiments using the 16HBE14o- cell line, immortalized from primary human epithelial cells, show that the  $G_q$ -coupled P2Y subtypes P2Y<sub>1</sub>, P2Y<sub>2</sub>, P2Y<sub>4</sub>, P2Y<sub>6</sub>, and P2Y<sub>11</sub> are expressed in human lung epithelia. The P2Y sub-types 2, 4, and 11 are expressed basolaterally, while 1 and 6 are expressed only in the apical membrane (86). Activation of these receptors results in activation of the Phospholipase C dependant pathway – except P2Y<sub>11</sub>, which also activates  $G_s$  and cAMP signaling. The activation of this pathway increases cytosolic  $Ca^{2+}$ , activating Calcium-sensitive Chloride Channels (CaCC) and CFTR. Stimulation of this receptor is currently clinically relevant as a potential therapy for CF as inhaled UTP or UTP analogues. As CFTR activity is either reduced or absent in CF, the effect of UTP is speculated to occur as a result of increased CaCC activity (7, 54).

P2X receptors are also expressed in human airway epithelial cell lines. These purinergic receptors are calcium-permeable non-selective ligand gated cation channels. The expression of these channels occurs on both apical and basolateral membranes. Subtypes  $P2X_4$  and  $P2X_5$  are expressed in primary airway epithelial cultures and the 16HBE140- cell line, while subtype  $P2X_6$  has also been observed in 16HBE140- cells (45, 81). Stimulation of P2X receptors results in a transient rise in intracellular calcium, which should activate anion secretion by activation of calcium-sensitive potassium channels (45, 94).

### 1.2.2 P1 Purine Receptors: Adenosine Receptors

Anion secretion in airway epithelia is also activated by P1 adenosine-stimulated receptors. mRNA for P1 receptor subtypes  $A_{2A}$  and  $A_{2B}$  has been detected in NHBE cells (80). Both A2 receptors act through activation of the cAMP dependent signaling pathway, while  $A_{2B}$  may also activate the PLC signaling pathway (37) (10).  $A_{2B}$  receptors have been functionally demonstrated on the apical membrane of 16HBE14oand both membranes of Calu-3 cells, while  $A_{2A}$  has been demonstrated on the basolateral membrane (10, 34, 80). 5'-(N-ethylcarboxamido) adenosine (NECA) is used experimentally as an adenosine analogue to activate both  $A_{2A}$  and  $A_{2B}$  receptors.

#### 1.2.3 Muscarinic Receptors

Muscarinic receptors are expressed in human bronchial epithelium and smooth muscle cells. The M<sub>3</sub> subtype is expressed in the basolateral membrane of NHBE cells (3). Muscarinic receptors on airway epithelial cells respond to acetylcholine (ACh) release by parasympathetic neurons to increase airway ion secretion (91). Activation of the M<sub>3</sub> receptors activates the PLC signaling pathway and activates ion secretion. Carbachol (carbamylcholine) is used experimentally as a muscarinic agonist to stimulate anion secretion in airway cells.

### 1.3 PPARγ Physiology

The physiological role of PPAR $\gamma$  is vague. PPAR $\gamma$  agonists have been shown to increase adipocyte differentiation, increase transcription of proteins involved in glucose sensing, and are used clinically in the treatment of Type II diabetes mellitus (28, 33, 42). In comparison with the known effects of PPAR $\alpha$ , which increases catabolism of fatty acids, PPAR $\gamma$  appears to be involved in the detection and storage of excess energy. However, the expression of PPAR $\gamma$  in tissues that are not involved in energy regulation suggests that this receptor may have a larger physiological role than increasing energy storage. Figure 1.2 shows the mechanism of action of endogenous and exogenous PPAR agonists.



Figure 1.2. Mechanism of PPAR activation of transcription. Aside from alterations in lipid metabolism, pharmacological activators bind directly to PPARs to activate or repress transcription of target genes. Abbreviations: RA – Retinoic Acid; TXN – Transcription; FFA – Free Fatty Acid. Adapted from Schoonjans et al., 1996. (69)

The binding pocket of PPARs is much larger than expected, when compared to other nuclear receptors, suggesting that these receptors are capable of binding a variety of lipophilic molecules (89). The widespread expression and promiscuous binding properties of PPARs suggest that their physiological role involves more than metabolic regulation. It is possible that PPARs in general act as an "energy switch," detecting cellular energy levels and altering transcription of target genes in response. This hypothesis is supported by observations that PPAR $\alpha$  activation produces similar effects physiologically to caloric restriction (14). The energy switch hypothesis is imperfect in that PPARs have been shown to have other physiological roles, such as modulating inflammation. Several prostaglandins and metabolites have been shown to act as high affinity agonists for PPAR $\gamma$ . It should be noted that the physiological levels of some

prostaglandin-metabolites do not reach agonist concentrations under normal physiological conditions (5, 59). Treatment with PPAR $\gamma$  agonists have been shown to reduce acute inflammation in rats and decrease cytokine release from human bronchial epithelial cells (18, 83). The anti-inflammatory effects of PPAR $\gamma$  also extend into the cardiovascular system. Improvements in cardiovascular health markers have been observed in patients in double-blind studies with PPAR $\gamma$  agonists (29). PPAR $\gamma$  agonists also show promise in the treatment of inflammatory lung diseases and acute lung injury (77). The role of PPAR $\gamma$  in lung ion transport has not been examined experimentally, although effects on ion transport in the rat kidney have been evaluated. In kidneys of rats fed rosiglitazone, the expression of NKCC2, NHE3, aquaporins, and the  $\alpha$ -subunit of Na<sup>+</sup>/K<sup>+</sup> ATPase were increased after 3 days (76). While this does not equate to alterations in lung ion transport, it suggest that PPAR $\gamma$  may regulate human ion transport proteins.

Observation of altered physiology in subjects with mutations in PPAR $\gamma$  also provides insight into its physiological roles. Surprisingly, both loss-of-function and mutations that result in constitutively active PPAR $\gamma$  have nearly identical phenotypes. Dominant negative mutations in PPAR $\gamma$  isoform 2 (PPAR $\gamma$ 2) result in Type II diabetes mellitus, severe insulin resistance, and hypertension – a potentially counterintuitive finding based on the proposed physiological role of PPAR $\gamma$  (4). Hyperactive PPAR $\gamma$ 2 also results in Type II diabetes mellitus, insulin resistance, and hypertension (63). However, subjects with hyperactive PPAR $\gamma$  are clinically obese while the dominant negative mutant subjects had normal body mass index (BMI). Considering the ability of PPAR $\gamma$  to increase insulin sensitivity, diabetes mellitus secondary to reduced insulin

12

sensitivity appears logical (52, 90). Based on the normal BMI observed in loss-offunction mutations, Type II diabetes in these cases appears to have developed secondary to impaired insulin sensitivity. Unfortunately, there are no studies involving PPAR $\gamma$ mutants and lung function, which is the primary focus of this thesis.

### 1.4 Hypothesis and Specific Aims

As transcriptional regulators, PPAR $\gamma$  agonists represent a promising therapy for airway disease. Clinical studies of pioglitazone-therapy revealed that patients receiving the PPAR $\gamma$  agonist pioglitazone had an increased incidence of upper respiratory tract infections – suggesting that PPAR $\gamma$  agonists have regulatory roles in the immune response of the lung (33). As mucociliary clearance is involved in innate immunity, this finding may be a result of impaired mucous clearance. This thesis focuses on ion transport across normal human bronchial epithelium, one aspect responsible for the maintenance of adequate mucociliary clearance. PPAR $\gamma$  acts through regulation of transcription, it is probable that many different proteins involved in ion transport are affected by PPAR $\gamma$  activation.

The main objective of this thesis is to evaluate possible changes in lung epithelial ion transport. These changes may be the result of changes in expression of transport proteins, alterations in cellular signaling pathways, and changes in the intracellular handling of transport proteins. The benefits of this research include: 1) potential for discovery of a novel therapy for airway disease, 2) elucidation of PPAR $\gamma$  regulated transport proteins, and 3) discovery of potential contraindications for PPAR $\gamma$  agonists for the treatment of dyslipidemia or Type II diabetes mellitus.

13

Summarized, the specific aims of this thesis are:

1. To evaluate the effects of PPAR $\gamma$  stimulation on ion transport in normal human bronchial epithelia

2. To explore molecular mechanisms of PPAR $\gamma$  induced changes in ion transport in normal human bronchial epithelia

3. To investigate the potential of PPAR $\gamma$  agonists as therapy for airway disease

## Chapter 2 Materials and Methods

### 2.1 Materials

Amiloride, carbachol, thapsigargin, furosemide, 5'-(nethylcarboxamido)adenosine (NECA), tolbutamide, clotrimazole, tetrapentylammonium chloride (TPAC), 1-ethyl-2-benzimidazolinone (1-EBIO), 4.4'-dinitrostilbene-2,2'disulfonic acid (DNDS), ATP, pioglitazone, FMOC-L-leucine, GW1929, and ouabain were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich Canada (Oakville, Ont). Barium chloride was obtained from Fischer (Pittsburg, PA) and forskolin was purchased from LC Laboratories (Woburn, MD). Xe991, a selective inhibitor of cAMP activated potassium channels, was a generous gift of Dr. B.S. Brown (DuPont, Wilmington, DE). NHBE cells and assay medium were obtained from MatTek (Ashland, MD). 7.5% Polyacrylamide gels, protein assay reagent, and protein markers were obtained from BioRad Laboratories (Hercules, CA). Monoclonal CFTR antibodies were obtained from RD Labs (Washington, MO) and polyclonal β-actin antibodies were obtained from Santa Cruz Biotechnology (Santa Cruz, CA). Anti-hNBC1 antibodies were a generous gift of Dr. Joseph R. Casey (University of Alberta, Alta). LUX® quantitative-PCR primers and kit were obtained from Invitrogen (Burlington, Ont). Dual-Luciferase Assay kit and pRL-TK plasmid were obtained from Promega (Madison, WI). CFTR reporter plasmids containing 3.9kb and 0.7kb CFTR promoters were a generous gift of Dr. Mitchell R. Drumm (Case Western Reserve University, OH). Effectene® transfection reagent was obtained from Qiagen (Mississauga, Ont).

### 2.2 Cell Culture

NHBE cells are the preferred cells for use in this study. These cells are primary cultures of very low passage number ( $p \le 3$ ). These cells do not retain their normal characteristics after multiple passages, so it was necessary to obtain new cultures on a regular basis. All cultures will be obtained from donors of similar age and genetic background. These cells form confluent, differentiated monolayers that retain the characteristics of *in vivo* airway epithelial cells when grown on an air-liquid interface. NHBE cells are able to form tight junctions – a necessary requirement for use in Ussing chamber experiments. Additionally, NHBE cells have been shown to express several proteins of interest to this study such as PPARy, CFTR, and eNaC in cell culture (40). As a result, these cells are an optimal model for examining ion transport in intact human airway epithelium. These cells were obtained from MatTek (Ashland, MD), already passaged onto Costar<sup>®</sup> 12mm Transwell<sup>™</sup> 0.4µm pore polyester membranes (Corning, NY). Cells were incubated in on an air-liquid interface at  $37^{\circ}$ C in a 5% CO<sub>2</sub> – 95% air humidified incubator, with medium changed every 2-3 days until drug treatment. Cells were treated with drug dissolved in the media for 48 hours with the assay medium changed daily to ensure fairly constant concentrations of drug. To ensure consistency of treatment, control cell media was also changed daily during the 48-hour treatment period.

A549 cells are a human lung adenoma cell line commonly used in reporter gene studies. These cells do not normally express CFTR, but contain all cellular machinery required to do so. These cells maintain their characteristics over a large number of passages and are ideal for reporter gene assays. A549 cells were grown in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum and containing antibiotics. Cells were grown at 37°C in a humidified 5%  $CO_2 - 95\%$  air incubator. Medium was replaced every 2-3 days with fresh medium. When cells approached 80% confluence, cells were subcultured using 0.05% W/V trypsin – 0.02% W/V ethylene-diamine tetra-acetic acid (EDTA) at 37°C for 10-15 minutes. Cells were then plated onto 24 well plates for transfection and grown until 60% confluent.

### 2.3 Ussing Chamber Experiments

2.3.1 Intact Cell Measurements

### 2.3.1.1 Experiments in Normal Krebs-Heinslett Solutions

To assess the effects of PPARγ stimulation on ion transport, Ussing chambers were employed as a method of measuring net ion flow across the epithelium. NHBE cells were bathed in Krebs-Heinslett Solution (KHS) bubbled with 5% CO<sub>2</sub> balance O<sub>2</sub> in both the apical and basolateral chambers. Normal KHS is composed of NaCl 116 mM, KCl 4.7 mM, CalCl<sub>2</sub> 2.5 mM, MgCl<sub>2</sub> 1.2 mM, NaHCO<sub>3</sub> 24.8 mM, KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> 1.2 mM, and glucose 11.1 mM. Short-circuit current (SCC) was recorded with PowerLab (ADInstruments, CO) and downloaded to a computer. Baseline characteristics of each membrane were recorded, followed by treatment with amiloride apically to block sodium absorption. After each treatment with each ion transport modulator, the SCC was allowed a 10-minute period to reach a steady-state. Figure 2.1 shows a typical experimental recording using carbachol to activate an SCC response. After initial experiments, membranes and chambers were washed with KHS and a second set of experiments were performed. Table 2.1 shows the different ion transport modulators used, their working concentrations, and their actions in NHBE cells.



Figure 2.1. A typical NHBE monolayer SCC response to carbachol showing a biphasic response. Section A represents the  $1^{st}$  phase response, Section B represents the  $2^{nd}$  phase response, and Section C represents the peak SCC response due to carbachol. These terms will be used to describe the SCC response of NHBE monolayers to different ion transport modulators.

Modulator	Working	Function in Ussing chamber experiments
	Concentration	
Amiloride	10 µM	Inhibit ENaC and sodium absorption
ATP	10 µM	Activate P2 purinergic receptors and induce anion secretion
Barium Chloride	5 mM	Non-specific inhibition of potassium channels
Carbachol	100 µM	Activate M3 receptors and induce anion secretion
Clotrimazole	50 µM	Inhibit of the IK potassium channel
DNDS	2 mM	Inhibit basolateral sodium bicarbonate cotransporter
1-EBIO	600 µM	Activate basolateral potassium channels and induce
		anion secretion
Forskolin	10 µM	Increase cytosolic cAMP and induce anion secretion
Furosemide	1 mM	Inhibit the sodium/potassium/chloride cotransporter
NECA	10 µM	Activate P1 purinergic receptors and induce anion
		secretion
Ouabain	100 µM	Inhibit the sodium/potassium ATPase pump
Tetrapentylammonium		Inhibition of the BK potassium channel
chloride	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Thapsigargin	10 µM	Inhibit SERCA and induce anion secretion due to
		increased cytosolic calcium
Tolbutamide	100 µM	Inhibit ATP-sensitive potassium channels
XE991	30 µM	Inhibit cAMP-dependent potassium channels

Table 2.1 Anion secretion modulators and their use in Ussing chamber experiments

### 2.3.1.2 Experiments in Low-Chloride KHS

To isolate the contribution of chloride ion transport to the net current observed in normal KHS, a modified KHS was employed. The protocol used was the same as in 2.3.1.1 with the normal KHS solutions. Gluconate was used as a replacement ion for chloride in the modified KHS. The make-up of low-chloride KHS (lcKHS) is sodium gluconate 116 mM, potassium gluconate 4.7 mM, calcium gluconate 5.0 mM, MgCl<sub>2</sub> 1.2 mM, NaHCO<sub>3</sub> 24.8 mM, KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> 1.2 mM, and glucose 11.1 mM. Since gluconate is an impermeant ion, the net current measured will be due to movement of HCO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> across the membrane.

### 2.3.1.3 Experiments in Bicarbonate-free KHS

To isolate the contribution of bicarbonate transport to the current measured in normal KHS, a second modified KHS was employed. Again, the measurement of net ion transport followed the protocol in 2.3.1.1. Bicarbonate was removed from solution and replaced with HEPES buffered to pH 7.4. The composition of bicarbonate-free KHS (bfKHS) is NaCl 135.2 mM, KCl 4.7 mM, CaCl<sub>2</sub> 2.5 mM, MgCl<sub>2</sub> 1.2 mM, KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> 1.2 mM, HEPES 10.0 mM, and glucose 11.1 mM. The solution was bubbled with 100% O<sub>2</sub> to ensure that the bfKHS remained bicarbonate-free. Anion secretion observed with this method can be attributed to electrogenic chloride flux. 2.3.2 Apical Membrane Studies

NHBE cells form polarized monolayers and therefore both apical and basolateral factors may contribute to any changes in anion secretion we observe during the studies outlined in 2.3.1. As a result, it will be necessary to isolate the apical and basolateral membranes to determine what factors may be effected. Cuthbert (16) described a technique for isolating the apical membrane of epithelial cell patches using a depolarizing high-potassium and low-chloride solution. This solution depolarizes the basolateral membrane and the low-chloride content results in an apical to basolateral chloride gradient. Chambers will be balanced with normal KHS before replacement of the basolateral solution with the membrane-depolarizing KHS (bdKHS). The composition of bdKHS is K gluconate 116 mM, KCl 4.7 mM, Ca gluconate 5.0 mM, MgCl<sub>2</sub> 1.2 mM, KHCO<sub>3</sub> 24.8 mM, KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> 1.2 mM, and glucose 11.1 mM. The apical membrane of will be treated with amiloride to block sodium conductance and BaCl<sub>2</sub> to block potassium conductance. After a baseline is reached, the membranes were treated with forskolin bilaterally to activate apical anion channels and, due to the apical to basolateral gradient, chloride absorption. Changes in apical anion conductance will be observed as negative current.

#### 2.3.3 Basolateral Membrane Studies

2.3.3.1 Bicarbonate Transporter Studies

To determine whether changes in basolateral membrane ion transport contribute to changes in net ion flux, another modified Ussing chamber technique was used. The contributions of total potassium channel activity were already examined in the intact cell preparations, this technique exams the effect of PPARy activation on NBC1 and the basal open state of potassium channels. A modified voltage-clamp technique was employed using the Ussing chamber. Sodium concentrations in both the apical and basolateral solution were modified to isolate the current attributed to NBC1. The apical solution was composed of sodium gluconate 10 mM, HEPES 110 mM, CaCl<sub>2</sub> 5 mM, MgCl<sub>2</sub> 1.2 mM, NaHCO<sub>3</sub> 25 mM, KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> 1.2 mM, and glucose 11.1 mM. The basolateral solution was composed of sodium gluconate 50 mM, N-methyl-D-glucamine (NMDG) 70 mM, CaCl<sub>2</sub> 5 mM, MgCl<sub>2</sub> 1.2 mM, NaHCO<sub>3</sub> 25 mM, KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> 1.2 mM, and glucose 11.1 mM. Cells were clamped at 0 mV and treated apically with nystatin to permeabilize the apical membrane similar to the method used by Gross et al (31). After the SCC stabilized, cells were subjected to a progression of potentials from +50 mV to -50 mV in 10 mV steps. At each voltage step, the cells were allowed to reach a steady-state before being subjected to the next potential. Then the potential was again clamped at 0 mV and the cells were treated with DNDS 2 mM basolaterally to inhibit NBC1. After a baseline was reached, cells were again subjected to the voltage clamp from +50 to -50 mV. The values recorded for each potential before and after DNDS treatment were subtracted to find the contribution of NBC1 to the whole cell current.

### 2.3.3.2 Potassium Channel Studies

One hypothesis to explain the lowered SCC response to forskolin and carbachol stimulation was that potassium channels in PPARy agonist treated cells had higher baseline potassium channel activity. To examine the effect of PPARy stimulation on the basal state of basolateral potassium channels, basolateral membrane only Ussing chamber technique was employed. Sodium gluconate KHS (sgKHS) was used as the basolateral solution and bdKHS was employed as the apical solution. sgKHS is composed of sodium gluconate 116 mM, KCl 4.7 mM, calcium gluconate 5.0 mM, MgCl<sub>2</sub> 1.2 mM, KHCO<sub>3</sub> 24.8 mM, KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> 1.2 mM, and glucose 11.1 mM. The use of these solutions creates an apical to basolateral potassium gradient that allows the measurement of potassium movement across the basolateral membrane. The apical cell membrane is not permeable to potassium and will be permeabilized using nystatin (180 µg/ml). Once the SCC reaches a steady-state, BaCl<sub>2</sub> will be added to the basolateral solution to inhibit the potassium channels, giving an indication of the basal potassium current.

### 2.4 Quantitative PCR

Real-time reverse-transcriptase quantitative polymerase chain reaction (RTqPCR) was used to measure changes in total cellular mRNA concentration of proteins of interest. Intron-spanning LUX<sup>®</sup> (Light Upon eXtension) primers were used designed using the Invitrogen primer design website. This technique allows quantification of the changes expression at the mRNA level. The abundance of mRNA for CFTR, NBC1, NKCC1, and the molecular standard  $\beta$ -actin were determined using RT-qPCR. The CFTR, NKCC1, and NBC1 primers were conjugated to the fluorescent dye FAM, while the  $\beta$ -actin primers were conjugated to the fluorescent dye FAM, while the  $\beta$ -actin primers were conjugated to the fluorescent dye JOE. SuperScript PCR kits (Invitrogen) were used in the PCR reaction. The master reaction mix included MgSO<sub>4</sub> 5 mM, 2XReaction Mix 1X,  $\beta$ -actin JOE-labeled primer 100 nM,  $\beta$ -actin unlabeled primer 100 nM, FAM labeled primer 200 nM, unlabeled primer 200 nM, ROX Reference Dye 1X, and SuperScript III RT/Platinum Taq Mix 0.4 µl/20 µl reaction. Cytosolic RNA from NHBE monolayers used in Ussing chamber experiments was quantified with UV absorbance and diluted to a stock concentration of 0.2  $\mu$ g/ $\mu$ l. For the PCR reactions, three different RNA quantities were used: 20, 30, and 40 ng. This acts as a control for both RNA loading and the effectiveness of the PCR reaction as the cycle numbers observed should decrease with increasing RNA concentration. If RNA loading was consistent, a linear relationship should be observed in count number. This linear relationship will allow the normalization of CFTR or NBC1 count number using  $\beta$ -actin. In addition, a no template control (NTC) that did not have RNA added was used to ensure that the master mix did not become contaminated with external sources of RNA. The RT-qPCR reactions were run in a RotorGene PCR machine using RotorGene 5.0 software. The sequence of CFTR primers was CAC ATA GCT CGG AAG GCA GCC TAT G[FAM]G at 1038 from the 3' end for the forward primer and CAC CAC AAA GAA CCC TGA GAA GAA at 1063 from 3' end for the reverse primer, producing a product of 76 bases in length. Primer sequences for NBC1 primers were CGC TGG GAT TGT GAA GAA TTG CAG [FAM]G for the forward primer starting at 1330 bases from the 3' end and TGG CGC TTT CCT CTT TAT GTC TT starting at 1360 bases from the 3' end, producing a product 78 bases in length. Primer sequence for the NKCC1 forward primer was CAC TCC CAT TCA ATT CGT CTT TCT GGA G[FAM]G and TGG ACG TGA GTT TGG AGC AC for the reverse primer. NKCC1 primers were located at 2504 and 2551 from the 3' end for the forward and reverse primers, respectively, resulting in a product 68 bases in length.

### 2.5 Western Blot

Western blot analysis was used to compare the expression of proteins of interest in control and PPARy agonist treated cells. NHBE cells used in Ussing chamber experiments were lysed, and cellular proteins were harvested and stored at -80°C. Proteins were denatured in 10% SDS solution and run in a 7.5 % polyacrylamide gel for 45 minutes. The proteins were then transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane in 20% methanol transfer buffer. The membrane was then blocked with 5% milk in a solution containing 0.1% Tween-20, 25 mM Tris base, and 125 mM NaCl (TTBS) (blocking buffer) for 1 hour at room temperature. Antibodies were diluted in blocking buffer and rocked on the membrane overnight in a coldroom. Anti-NBC1 was diluted 1:500 and both anti-CFTR and anti- $\beta$ -actin were diluted 1:1000. The membrane was then washed with blocking buffer for one hour. After washing, membranes were rocked for one hour with appropriate secondary antibodies in blocking buffer. After washing with for one hour in blocking buffer and one hour in TTBS, ECL was applied and luminescence was detected using a Kodak ImageStation scanner. The intensity of detected bands was measured using the accompanying scanning software. After measurement, the membrane was stripped and re-probed with a different antibody. Mature CFTR has a molecular weight of 168 kDa, NBC1 has a molecular weight of 116 kDa, and β-actin has a molecular weight of 41.7 kDa.

### 2.6 Reporter Gene Assay

A reporter gene assay was used to determine if PPARy stimulation had an effect on CFTR promoter activity. A firefly-luciferase reporter plasmid containing either a 0.7kb or 3.9kb CFTR promoter was used to quantify CFTR promoter activity in the presence or absence of PPARy agonists. A transfection control plasmid that contains a *Renilla* luciferase conjugated to a Herpes-simplex virus thymidine kinase promoter, pRL-TK (Promega, Ont), was co-transfected with the CFTR plasmids to control for transfection efficiency. A549 cells grown on 24 well plates were cultured until 60% confluency and then transfected using Effectene transfection reagent. Transfection followed the standard protocol from Qiagen using 0.2 µg of CFTR plasmid, 0.01 µg pRL-TK plasmid, 1.6  $\mu$ l Enhancer, and 5  $\mu$ l Effectene reagent per well in growth media. The media containing transfection reagent was left on cells overnight to allow maximal absorption of plasmid DNA. Transfection media was then removed and replaced with normal growth media or growth media containing PPARy agonists. After 24 hours of exposure to PPARy agonists, cells were washed with phosphate-buffered saline 3 times and then lysed using Passive Lysis Buffer from the Dual-Luciferase Assay kit (Promega). 20  $\mu$ l of cell lysate was added to 100  $\mu$ l of firefly luciferase reaction mix and luminescence was detected using a Turner Designs (Sunnyvale, CA) TD-20/20 luminometer. The firefly reaction was quenched and the *Renilla* reaction was initiated using 100µl of Stop and Glo<sup>®</sup> reagent and measured in the luminometer. Luminescence was recorded for 3 10-second intervals for each luciferase reaction. The values for firefly reaction were nearly constant and were averaged over the 30-second interval. Since the

*Renilla* reaction deteriorated at a much quicker rate than the firefly luciferase reaction, only the first 10-second interval value was used for correction.

#### 2.7 Statistical Analysis

All values are expressed as mean  $\pm$  standard error unless otherwise stated. Both peak and steady-state responses were used to compare the responses of NHBE cells to ion transport modulators. ANOVA was used to compare the means of multiple groups, with significance considered to be p-value < 0.05 in the Tukey post-test. Student's t-Test was used to compare the difference between two groups with statistical significance considered to be a p-value < 0.05. Significant digits were determined using purely statistical calculations based on the recorded results.
## **Chapter 3 Results**

3.1 Ussing Chamber Results

3.1.1 Intact Cell Experiments

#### 3.1.1.1 Experiments in Normal KHS

Experiments with NHBE cells were initially run in normal KHS. The baseline characteristics of control and pioglitazone-treated cells are shown in Table 3.1. There is a significant difference between the basal SCC between control cells and those treated with pioglitazone (p<0.01). The same percentage of initial SCC was inhibited by amiloride in pioglitazone-treated cells as in controls (p=0.96). Transepithelial resistance was not affected by pioglitazone treatment (p=0.18). Cells were then treated with a variety of agonist molecules to activate anion secretion. Bilateral forskolin, basolateral carbachol, NECA, and ATP, with NECA and ATP used independently on both the apical and basolateral membranes, were all used to activate anion secretion in NHBE cells. Inhibitor studies used cells pre-treated with forskolin, as the steady-state response is higher and more stable than the other activators. Inhibitors used include BaCl<sub>2</sub>, furosemide, clotrimazole, XE991, and tetrapentylammonium chloride. PPAR $\gamma$  agonists used include pioglitazone and GW1929.

Treatment	Basal Current (µA/cm <sup>2</sup> )	Transepithelial Resistance (Ω)	Amiloride Response (% Basal SCC)	n
Control	22.4±1.8	370±22	71.5±4.4	n=24
Pioglitazone	16.0±1.1**	450±56	69.9±3.1	n=24

Table 3.1. Summary of baseline characteristics and amiloride responses of NHBE cells after treatment with pioglitazone. \*\*p<0.01

In NHBE cells activated with bilateral forskolin, anion secretory responses were significantly lowered in PPAR $\gamma$  agonist treated cells. Representative SCC responses to

forskolin are shown in Figure 3.1.2A. Control cells had a forskolin response of  $37.8\pm2.2$   $\mu$ A/cm<sup>2</sup> (n=13), pioglitazone treated cells had responses of  $26.0\pm1.4 \mu$ A/cm<sup>2</sup> (n=11)(p<0.001), and the GW1929-treated forskolin response was  $27.7\pm1.6 \mu$ A/cm<sup>2</sup> (n=3)(p=0.052) as shown in Figure 3.1.1B. Forskolin directly activates adenylate cyclase, increasing cAMP levels and activating ion transport by direct interaction or phosphorylation of CFTR and other ion transport proteins. This decrease in anion secretion could be produced by many factors and further experiments were used to examine both apical and basolateral membrane factors.



Figure 3.1.1. (A) Representative recordings showing forskolin response in control, pioglitazone-treated, and GW1929-treated monolayers. Forskolin increases cytosolic cAMP and increases anion secretion through CFTR. (B) SCC response to forskolin in NHBE monolayers treated with pioglitazone and GW1929. \*\*p<0.01.

Membranes were washed with KHS and another set of experiments was performed to examine the SCC response to carbachol. The carbachol response observed was biphasic in nature for all treatments. As seen in figure 3.1.2A, an initial spike occurred immediately after addition of carbachol to the basolateral chamber, followed by a delayed increase in anion secretion. The initial response values were  $9.6\pm1.0 \ \mu\text{A/cm}^2$  (n=5) for controls, 7.7±0.9  $\mu$ A/cm<sup>2</sup> (n=4) for pioglitazone-treated, and 6.2±0.6  $\mu$ A/cm<sup>2</sup> (n=3) for GW1929 treated cells and did not reach statistical significance (p>0.05). The second-phase peak response values were significantly different between controls and PPAR $\gamma$  agonist treated cells. The second phase response of control cells was 15.7±2.5  $\mu$ A/cm<sup>2</sup>, pioglitazone-treated cells had response of 0.9±0.9  $\mu$ A/cm<sup>2</sup> (p<0.01) and GW1929 treated cells had a response of 2.0±0.3  $\mu$ A/cm<sup>2</sup> (p<0.01). The steady-state responses did not reach statistical difference – 8.8±1.3, 5.1±0.5, and 4.5±0.4  $\mu$ A/cm<sup>2</sup> respectively (p>0.05). This result suggests that there is a change in the signaling pathway that produces the reduction in the second-phase carbachol response. Since carbachol and M<sub>3</sub> receptors act through elevation of intracellular calcium, one possible explanation is reduction in calcium release from intracellular stores.



Figure 3.1.2. (A) Representative SCC responses to carbachol in NHBE monolayers. Carbachol activates muscarinic receptors on the basolateral membrane to activate  $Ca^{2+}$ -dependent anion secretion. (B) Control cells displayed a significantly larger secondary peak in SCC response to carbachol than either GW1929 or pioglitazone-treated cells. \*\*p<0.01.

Adenosine and ATP receptors are expressed on the apical and basolateral membranes of NHBE cells. To investigate any effect PPARy stimulation these receptors,

NECA and ATP were used to stimulate anion secretion. With receptor expression occurring at both membranes, cells were treated with agonist on the apical membrane, followed with basolateral stimulation after 10 minutes. The apical response to NECA was  $8.9\pm1.6 \ \mu\text{A/cm}^2$  (n=4) in controls and  $9.0\pm1.0 \ \mu\text{A/cm}^2$  (n=3) in pioglitazone-treated monolayers. The basolateral response to NECA was  $34.7\pm0.9 \ \mu\text{A/cm}^2$  and  $35.4\pm3.8 \ \mu\text{A/cm}^2$  respectively. NECA response was not statistically different for both the apical and basolateral membranes. As P1 receptors activate cAMP production, this result contradicts the observations using forskolin. Apical NECA responses are shown in Figure 3.1.3 and basolateral responses are shown in Figure 3.1.4.



Figure 3.1.3. (A) Representative SCC responses to NECA applied to the apical membrane. NECA activates adenosine receptors in the apical membrane and stimulates cAMP-dependent anion secretion. (B) Summary of apical NECA responses.



Figure 3.1.4. (A) Representative recordings of basolateral responses to NECA after apical NECA. NECA activates cAMP-dependent anion secretion. (B) Summary of results of SCC response to basolateral NECA.

The apical ATP response was higher in pioglitazone-treated cells than in controls (p<0.01) at 33.2±1.6 µA/cm<sup>2</sup> (n=4) and 20.2±2.4 µA/cm<sup>2</sup> (n=4), respectively. SCC responses to apical ATP are shown in Figure 3.1.5. Upon further examination of the apical response, a second peak is observed. This peak is diminished in PPARy treated cells as seen in Figure 3.1.6. This second phase resulted in significantly different increases in SCC of 2.1±0.7  $\mu$ A/cm<sup>2</sup> pioglitazone-treated and 6.9±0.3 $\mu$ A/cm<sup>2</sup> in control cells (p<0.001). Basolateral ATP response was also affected by PPARy stimulation - in an opposite manner to the apical response. Pioglitazone treatment resulted in a basolateral ATP response of  $3.2\pm0.7 \,\mu\text{A/cm}^2$ , while control membrane response was 26.7 $\pm$ 4.1  $\mu$ A/cm<sup>2</sup> (p<0.01). Basolateral ATP responses are summarized in Figure 3.1.7. This paradoxical response between membranes may be the result of the differential regulation of signaling pathways. The basolateral ATP receptor activates the calciumdependent signaling pathway – similar to carbachol. This alteration in basolateral ATP response is most likely related to the changes observed in the carbachol response, due to the common downstream signaling pathway. The apical ATP receptor only activates the calcium-dependant signaling pathway. However, the alteration of the both phases of the biphasic apical ATP response suggests an interesting difference following PPAR $\gamma$  treatment.



Figure 3.1.5. (A) Typical response to ATP applied to the apical solution. ATP activates P2 receptors in the apical membrane to increase anion secretion through both cAMP and  $Ca^{2+}$ -dependent mechanisms. (B) Summary of initial phase of the apical ATP response. \*\*p<0.01.



Figure 3.1.6. Summary of the second-phase apical ATP response. \*\*\*p<0.001.



Figure 3.1.7. (A) Typical response of NHBE monolayers to ATP in the basolateral solution. ATP activates P2 purinergic receptors in the basolateral membrane to activate  $Ca^{2+}$ -dependent anion secretion. (B) Summary of peak SCC response to basolateral ATP administration. \*\*p<0.01.

To examine the difference in anion secretion activated by the calcium-dependent signaling pathway after PPAR $\gamma$  agonist treatment, a series of calcium-pathway experiments were performed. Thapsigargin, an inhibitor of the sarcoplasmic-endoplasmic reticulum calcium ATPase (SERCA), was used to evaluate pioglitazone-induced changes in intracellular calcium handling. Thapsigargin activated currents were significantly different in control and pioglitazone-treated cells at 9.6±1.3  $\mu$ A/cm<sup>2</sup> (n=5) and 5.5±1.0  $\mu$ A/cm<sup>2</sup> (n=6) respectively (p<0.05). Two hypotheses explain this phenomenon in pioglitazone-treated cells: less calcium is released from intracellular stores or less calcium is entering via the plasma membrane. The peak SCC responses of anion secretion activators are summarized in Table 3.2.

Activator	Control	Pioglitazone	GW1929
	$(\mu A/cm^2)$	$(\mu A/cm^2)$	$(\mu A/cm^2)$
Forskolin	37.8±2.2 (n=13)	26.0±1.4 (n=11) **	27.7±1.6 (n=3)
Peak-Carbachol	19±3.0 (n=8)	7.9±0.9 (n=4) *	6.4±0.4 (n=3) *
ATP-apical	20.2±2.4 (n=4)	33.2±1.6 (n=4) **	N/A
ATP-basolateral	26.7±4.1 (n=4)	3.2±0.7 (n=4) **	N/A
NECA-apical	8.9±1.6 (n=4)	9.0±1.0 (n=3)	N/A
NECA-basolateral	34.7±0.9 (n=4)	35.4±3.8 (n=3)	N/A
Thapsigargin	9.6±1.3 (n=5)	5.5±1.0 (n=6) *	N/A

Table 3.2. Summary of SCC responses to activators of secretion. \*p<0.05; \*\*p<0.01.

Inhibitor responses were used to investigate possible basolateral transport contributions to the decreases in both forskolin and carbachol responses. Preliminary data using furosemide showed no difference between control and PPARy agonist treated and was dropped from further SCC studies. Barium chloride added to the basolateral chamber did not reveal any statistical difference in overall potassium channel contribution to anion secretion. However, the lack of selectivity of this inhibitor requires the exploration of individual potassium currents, since several different potassium conductances have been identified in the airways. XE991, clotrimazole, tetrapentylammonium chloride, and tolbutamide were used to isolate the contributions of these potassium currents. After preliminary experiments, tolbutamide was removed from the protocol, as it had no effect on anion secretion in NHBE cells. Clotrimazole had a minor effect when compared to XE991 or TPAC. Table 3.3 shows the inhibitor responses of NHBE cells after forskolin stimulation. There was no significant difference in any of the inhibitor responses after pioglitazone treatment when compared to control. It is possible that the decrease in forskolin current in NHBE cells after PPARy stimulation is due to a greater proportion of basolateral potassium channels in an openstate in PPARy agonist treated cells than in untreated cells under basal conditions. To

test this hypothesis, a basolateral membrane only preparation was used as described in

3.1.3.

Inhibitor	Control	Pioglitazone	
	$(\mu A/cm^2)$	$(\mu A/cm^2)$	
BaCl <sub>2</sub>	-28.3±2.9 (n=5)	-22.2±1.0 (n=5)	
TPAC	-19.9±1.1 (n=3)	-19.8±1.5 (n=3)	
Clotrimazole	-4.3±1.8 (n=2)	-2.1±1.0 (n=4)	
Xe991	-8.6±0.1 (n=2)	-8.5±0.7 (n=4)	

Table 3.3. Effect of ion transport inhibitors on SCC after bilateral forskolin treatment.

#### 3.1.1.2 Experiments in Low-Chloride KHS

To determine the chloride ion contribution to the anion flux observed in normal KHS solution experiments, a low-chloride KHS buffer was employed. Basal currents for control and pioglitazone-treated cells were not significantly different at  $4.9\pm0.8$  and  $5.6\pm1.0 \ \mu\text{A/cm}^2$  respectively. The forskolin responses in lcKHS were minute compared to KHS – suggesting chloride is the major anion secreted by NHBE cells. However, similar to experiments performed in normal KHS, pioglitazone-treated cells had a significantly lower increase in SCC compared to controls at  $5.1\pm0.3 \ \mu\text{A/cm}^2$  (n=4) and  $7.1\pm0.2 \ \mu\text{A/cm}^2$  (n=3) respectively (p<0.01). Data from lcKHS forskolin responses are shown in figure 3.1.8. Since the difference in anion secretion between control and PPAR $\gamma$  agonist treated cells remains in lcKHS, this suggests that the alteration in secretion of anions is a result of increased intracellular cAMP is chloride-independent and may be caused by changes in secretion of bicarbonate ions.

The carbachol responses in lcKHS were not significantly different between control and pioglitazone treated at  $2.8\pm0.4$  (n=4) and  $2.4\pm0.3$  µA/cm<sup>2</sup> (n=3) respectively (Figure 3.1.9B). Representative responses to carbachol in lcKHS are shown in Figure

3.1.9A. This finding has three major implications. First, that the difference in carbachol response after PPAR $\gamma$  agonist treatment is the result of a decrease in chloride ion secretion. Second, that the cAMP and calcium-dependent secretory pathways are regulated differently by PPAR $\gamma$  activation. Finally, NHBE cells are capable of selectively secreting anions.



Figure 3.1.8. (A) Representative NHBE responses to forskolin in low-chloride KHS. (B) Summary of forskolin responses in lcKHS. \*\*p<0.01.



Figure 3.1.9. (A) Representative NHBE monolayer responses to carbachol in low-chloride KHS. (B) Summary of carbachol responses in lcKHS.

## 3.1.1.3 Experiments in Bicarbonate-Free KHS

Bicarbonate-free KHS was used to identify the HCO3- contribution to anion secretion in response to forskolin and carbachol stimulation. The basal current was significantly higher in pioglitazone treated cells in bfKHS ( $10.6\pm1.5 \mu$ A/cm<sup>2</sup> vs.  $6.3\pm0.3$  $\mu$ A/cm<sup>2</sup>)(p<0.05). This significance disappears after treatment with apical amiloride (p=0.73), suggesting an alteration in sodium handling in PPARy-treated cells in bicarbonate-free buffer. Upon forskolin-stimulation, both control and pioglitazone treatment displayed similar responses of 28.0 $\pm$ 4.5  $\mu$ A/cm<sup>2</sup> (n=3) and 28.6 $\pm$ 2.5  $\mu$ A/cm<sup>2</sup> (n=3) respectively. The NHBE responses to forskolin in bfKHS are summarized in Figure 3.1.10. The peak pioglitazone response in normal KHS was  $24.2\pm2.2 \,\mu$ A/cm<sup>2</sup>, this value was not significantly different from the bfKHS response of control or pioglitazonetreated NHBE monolayers (ANOVA). Pioglitazone treatment impairs the selective secretion of bicarbonate ions upon stimulation of intracellular cAMP levels with forskolin. The difference in peak carbachol response in NHBE cells was unaffected by the bfKHS, with control SCC responses of  $30.0\pm5.90 \ \mu\text{A/cm}^2$  and pioglitazone-treated responses of 6.6 $\pm$ 2.0  $\mu$ A/cm<sup>2</sup> (p<0.05). Carbachol response in bfKHS is summarized in Figure 3.1.10.



Figure 3.1.10. (A) Representative responses to forskolin in bicarbonate-free KHS. (B) Summary of NHBE responses to forskolin in bfKHS.



Figure 3.1.11. (A) Representative carbachol responses from NHBE monolayers in bicarbonate-free KHS. (B) Summary of peak SCC responses to carbachol in bfKHS. \*\*p<0.01.

#### 3.1.2 Apical Membrane Studies

To examine the possible alterations in apical membrane anion conductance, a modified Ussing chamber experiment was employed. High potassium KHS (bdKHS) was used to depolarize the basolateral membrane, producing an apical to basolateral

chloride gradient. Amiloride and barium chloride were added to the apical solution to ensure that only anion movement is responsible for the observed SCC. After forskolin stimulation to activate anion absorption, control cells displayed an SCC of  $-43.0\pm5.02$  $\mu$ A/cm<sup>2</sup>, pioglitazone treated cells had an SCC of  $-54.0\pm2.82$   $\mu$ A/cm<sup>2</sup>, and GW1929 responses were  $-50.9\pm3.59$   $\mu$ A/cm<sup>2</sup>. There was no statistical difference in forskolin response due to pioglitazone (p=0.12) or GW1929 (p=0.31), suggesting that changes apical anion conductance are not involved in alterations in observed differences to overall anion conductance. However, a general trend was observed that PPAR $\gamma$  agonists increased the forskolin response, suggesting that apical anion conductance is indeed increased by stimulation of PPAR $\gamma$ . Representative traces from apical membrane studies are shown in Figure 3.1.11.



Figure 3.1.11. Apical membrane response to forskolin. The basolateral membrane of NHBE monolayers was depolarized with bdKHS and forskolin was applied.

3.1.3 Basolateral Membrane Studies

## 3.1.3.1 Bicarbonate Studies

To investigate the effect of PPAR $\gamma$  stimulation on the expression of NBC1, another modified Ussing chamber experiment was employed. The apical membrane was permeabilized with nystatin, ouabain was added to the basolateral chamber, and solutions with altered sodium concentrations were employed. A 10 mM sodium gluconate solution was used apically and a 50 mM sodium gluconate solution was used in the basolateral chamber. A voltage clamp was applied from +50 to -50 mV and a steady-state SCC was measured every 10 mV with the clamp performed before and after 2 mM DNDS addition to the basolateral membrane. The averaged results of the voltage clamp experiments are shown in Figure 3.1.12. DNDS treatment produced a difference in the SCC observed in the controls cells during voltage clamp, but did not produce a difference in pioglitazonetreated cells. PPAR $\gamma$  agonists reduce the current attributed of the basolateral membrane sodium bicarbonate co-transporter NBC1 compared to control in NHBE cells.



Figure 3.1.12. I-V plot of the DNDS-sensitive current in NHBE monolayers in the presence of a basolateral to apical sodium gradient. Control (n=1) had a larger DNDS-sensitive current than pioglitazone-treated (n=4) monolayers.

## 3.1.3.2 Potassium Channel Studies

To investigate the hypothesis that PPAR $\gamma$  stimulation causes an increase in the number of potassium channels in the open-state under basal conditions, an isolated basolateral membrane experiment was performed. Ouabain was added to the basolateral chamber to inhibit the electrogenic Na<sup>+</sup>/K<sup>+</sup> ATPase on the basolateral membrane. The apical membrane of the NHBE cells was permeabilized with nystatin in the presence of an apical to basolateral potassium gradient. This resulted in an increase in SCC in both pioglitazone-treated and control cells, corresponding to absorption of K<sup>+</sup> ions across the basolateral membrane. After steady-state was reached, BaCl<sub>2</sub> was added to non-selectively inhibit basolateral potassium channels. The SCC inhibited by barium corresponds to the potassium current under basal conditions. Control cells showed a barium response of -0.87±0.27 µA/cm<sup>2</sup> (n=3), while pioglitazone-treated cells had an SCC response of -2.6±0.88 µA/cm<sup>2</sup> (n=5). There was no statistical difference in baseline potassium current in control and PPAR $\gamma$  agonist treated cells (p=0.13). PPAR $\gamma$  activation does not affect the proportion of basolateral potassium channels in the open-state under basal conditions.

### 3.2 Quantitative PCR Studies

To examine the expression of proteins of interest in NHBE cells at the mRNA level, quantitative reverse-transcriptase PCR was employed. FAM-conjugated primers produce a signal upon extension that is detected and measured. As the number of copies of a particular mRNA increase, the fluorescent signal also increases, allowing a quantitative measure of mRNA. To calibrate the observed fluorescence signal, another primer for a "housekeeping gene" conjugated to JOE dye is used and the ratio between the two allows comparison of mRNA transcription. The expression levels of NBC1 and CFTR were examined using intron-spanning primers. RT-qPCR experiments were performed using 20, 30, and 40 ng of cytosolic RNA. The results of the PCR experiments are displayed in Figure 3.21. RNA isolated from control cells had a normalized cycle threshold (Ct) of  $29.3\pm0.15$  (n=9), pioglitazone-treated cells had a count of  $27.1\pm0.30$  (n=9), GW1929-treated cells had a Ct of  $28.2\pm0.05$  (n=9), and the "no template control" (NTC) had a count of 38±0.20 (n=3) for CFTR. A lower Ct indicates higher expression of mRNA, suggesting that CFTR mRNA was upregulated by PPARy agonists. NBC1 mRNA expression is shown in Figure 3.2.2. Control cells had a normalized Ct of 21.9±0.16 (n=6), while pioglitazone-treated cells had a normalized Ct of 22.9±0.14 (n=6). NTC had a count of 34.8 (n=1). NKCC1 expression was also examined using PCR. The expression of NKCC1 mRNA was unchanged by treatment with pioglitazone (p=0.86), with Cts of 22.9±0.66 for control (n=3), 22.8±0.16 (n=3) for pioglitazone-treated cells, and 31.4 for NTC (n=1). Results of NKCC1 quantitative PCR are shown in Figure 3.2.3.



Figure 3.2.1. CFTR mRNA expression after PPAR $\gamma$  agonist treatment. Values are expressed as cycle number normalized to  $\beta$ -actin. Decreased count number indicates an increase in CFTR mRNA expression. \*p<0.05; \*\*p<0.01.



Figure 3.2.1. NBC1 mRNA expression after PPAR $\gamma$  agonist treatment. Values are expressed as cycle number normalized to  $\beta$ -actin. Increased count number indicates an decrease in NBC1 mRNA expression. \*\*\*p<0.001.



Figure 3.2.3. Quantification of NKCC1 mRNA in NHBE cells treated with PPAR $\gamma$  agonists. Values are expressed as count normalized to  $\beta$ -actin. No difference was observed in NKCC1 expression between control and treated cells.

## 3.3 Western Blot studies

To verify the functional and RT-qPCR results, western blot technique was used to investigate the cellular expression of proteins of interest. CFTR is the major protein responsible for anion conductance in the apical membrane of NHBE cells. CFTR mRNA was also upregulated in PPAR $\gamma$  agonist treated cells. The total cellular expression of CFTR was examined in control and pioglitazone treated NHBE cells. CFTR detected with a monoclonal mouse antibody is displayed in figure 3.3.1. Quantification of the CFTR western blot resulted in 0.243 Arbitrary Units (AU) for control and 0.246 AU for pioglitazone-treated. Due to the faintness of observed staining, immature CFTR was not visible on the blot.



Figure 3.3.1. Expression of CFTR protein in NHBE cells treated with pioglitazone. Lane 1 shows CFTR staining in control cells and Lane 2 shows CFTR in pioglitazone treated cells. The band near 150 kDa shows CFTR staining and the band near 50 kDa shows actin staining.

NBC1 functional data suggested downregulation and verification using western blot was necessary. The expression of NBC1 was made using a polyclonal rabbit antibody and shown in Figure 3.3.2. NBC1 quantification revealed 0.394 AU for control and 0.187 AU for pioglitazone-treated.  $\beta$ -actin was detected using a polyclonal rabbit antibody and used to calibrate the quantification of both NBC1 and CFTR. The detection of similar CFTR protein levels in control and pioglitazone treated cells is contrary to the results obtained using RT-qPCR – a result that at present is not clearly explained. It is possible that a homeostatic mechanism prevents increase expression of CFTR in NHBE cells.



Figure 3.2.2. Expression of NBC1 in NHBE cells. Lane 1 contains protein from control cells; Lane 2 shows NBC1 expression in pioglitazone-treated cells. The band visible above 100 kDa corresponds to NBC1 staining, while the band near 50 kDa corresponds to  $\beta$ -actin.

## 3.4 Promoter Studies

To explain the difference between the western blot and RT-qPCR studies of CFTR expression after PPAR $\gamma$  stimulation, a promoter study was used. Two firefly luciferase conjugated CFTR promoter plasmids were employed – a truncated 0.7 kb promoter and a larger 3.9 kb promoter. The luminescence from firefly luciferase was calibrated with luminescence produced by a co-transfected *Renilla* luciferase plasmid. The ratio of the firefly to *Renilla* was used to compare changes in CFTR promoter activity with data expressed as Fold Increase versus control, a ratio to the luminescence of control cell lysate. A549 cells were used in these experiments because they are more easily cultured and transfected than NHBE cells, while still containing the cellular machinery required for the assay. Controls were assigned a value of  $1.00\pm0.13$  (n=6) for the 3.9kb promoter and  $1.00\pm0.17$  (n=7) for the 0.7kb promoter. Pioglitazone treatment increased the expression of firefly luciferase in the 3.9 kb promoter, but had reduced effectiveness in the 0.7 kb truncated CFTR promoter  $-1.68\pm0.06$  (n=5) fold increase (p<0.001) and  $1.28\pm0.25$  (n=5) fold increase (p<0.05) respectively. A novel PPAR $\gamma$ 

agonist, FMOC-L-leucine, was also used to treat the transfected cells. FMOC-L-leucine increased expression of both promoters, but the 0.7 kb promoter activity of  $1.89\pm0.25$ (n=6) fold increase (p<0.001) was reduced activity compared to the 3.9 kb promoter at  $3.03\pm0.27$  (n=7) fold increase versus control (p<0.001). The activity of the CFTR reporter plasmids in response to PPAR $\gamma$  agonists is summarized in Figure 3.4. These studies show that PPAR $\gamma$  stimulation increases the transcriptional activity of the CFTR promoter and downstream protein levels in A549 cells. This parallels the results seen in the RT-qPCR studies, but contradicts the results of functional and western blot studies in NHBE cells. These results have been confirmed by Dr. Mitchell Drumm's laboratory (Case Western Reserve University, OH). The results produced by Dr. Drumm's laboratory will be included in the manuscript for publication.



Figure 3.4. Relative activity of CFTR promoter plasmids. Data is expressed as RLU normalized to control. \*p<0.05; \*\*\*p<0.001.

# **Chapter 4 Discussion**

## 4.1 Physiological Roles of PPARy

Peroxisome Proliferator Activated Receptor subtype- $\gamma$  is a member of the nuclear receptor family that activates or suppresses transcription of target genes upon activation. Upon ligand binding, PPARy heterodimerizes with the RXR receptor and binds to PPAR response elements (PPRE) in the cell nucleus (51). The consensus PPRE half-site is AGGTCA, although other variations have been identified in humans and other mammalian species (39). There are many pharmacological activators of PPARy, but unlike other nuclear receptors, there is no clear agonist molecule. Several different molecules have been proposed as agonists, but the consensus is that PPARs are endogenously activated by alterations in free-fatty acid (FFA) concentrations and changes in cellular energy (19, 59). Expression of the different PPAR subtypes is widespread throughout the body, but PPARy is expressed mainly in the liver and adipose tissue. PPARy is known to regulate differentiation of adipocytes and lipid metabolism. Interestingly, this receptor is also found in the lung epithelium (83). As epithelial transport is a highly energetic process, PPARs may have important regulatory roles at the transcriptional level. In addition to possible roles in regulation of ion transport, some PPARγ agonists have been shown to possess anti-inflammatory properties (18, 67). These properties of PPARy agonists provide a potential dual-mechanism for airway disease therapy. This thesis examines the effects of PPARy stimulation on ion transport and evaluates the potential benefits and risks of use of PPARy agonists therapeutically.

Specifically, this thesis addresses possible applications of PPAR $\gamma$  agonists in lung disease.

## 4.2 PPARy as a Regulator of Ion Transport

The focus of this thesis was on PPAR $\gamma$  as a potential regulator of ion transport in normal human bronchial epithelia. The activation and inhibition of ion secretion and absorption with pharmacological agents allowed a comparison of ion transport properties of control cells and cells treated with PPAR $\gamma$  agonists. In general, the PPAR $\gamma$  agonist treated monolayers displayed a reduced response to secretagogues. As PPARs are regulators of gene transcription, several different proteins were affected by treatment.

Basal ion transport characteristics of NHBE monolayers were affected by PPAR $\gamma$  agonist treatment. Basal current was reduced in pioglitazone-treated cells, while the percentage of SCC inhibited by amiloride was not affected. This result suggests that sodium channels are not affected by PPAR $\gamma$  agonist treatment. The decrease in basal current may be a result of several factors and may be explained by experiments discussed below.

PPAR $\gamma$  agonists reduced the increase in SCC due to forskolin treatment. Forskolin activates cAMP production by activating adenylate cyclase and, as a result, increases anion secretion through apical chloride channels – CFTR in particular. This reduction was also observed when chloride was removed from the bathing solution, suggesting that bicarbonate ions were responsible for the difference between control and PPAR $\gamma$  agonist-treated cells. This result was confirmed by removal of bicarbonate from the bathing solution. There was no difference in SCC between control and pioglitazone-

treated cells in bfKHS and pioglitazone treated cells in normal KHS. Observations in Calu-3 cells using radioactive flux measurements have shown that forskolin activated SCC is entirely due to bicarbonate ion secretion. SCC was still observed after bicarbonate removal from solution, suggesting that  $HCO_3^-$  secretion is not responsible for the majority of anion secretion activated forskolin in NHBE monolayers.

As bicarbonate secretion is affected, exploration of PPARγ effects on NBC1 was necessary. Voltage-clamp experiments showed a reduction in DNDS-sensitive current after PPARγ treatment. Western blot analysis confirmed a decrease in NBC1 expression in NHBE monolayers. The reduction in NBC1 does not explain the reduction in bicarbonate-dependent anion secretion due to forskolin. NBC1 is regulated by cAMP and addition of forskolin may decrease the influx of bicarbonate through NBC1 in the kidney (64). However, other proteins involved in forskolin-dependent secretion may be affected. It is possible that carbonic anhydrase expression is reduced and less carbon dioxide is converted to bicarbonate within the NHBE cells – this possibility was not examined in this thesis. This hypothesis becomes more likely when considering the effect of forskolin in bfKHS. The total removal of bicarbonate and carbon dioxide from solution eliminated the difference in response to forskolin. Carbonic anhydrase is involved in cAMP activated bicarbonate secretion in canine airway epithelium (85). PPARγ regulation of carbonic anhydrase effect on forskolin response in NHBE cells requires further study.

Another implication of reduced bicarbonate influx is the potential effect on the reduction in baseline current observed in pioglitazone-treated cells. Reduced intracellular bicarbonate reduces cAMP generation by soluble adenylate cyclase (13, 88, 93). As

mentioned in Chapter 1, cAMP activates anion secretion and the reduction in bicarbonate influx may reduce basal anion secretion by decreasing the amount of basal flux through cAMP-sensitive channels like CFTR.

An interesting observation was made when activators of purinergic receptors were used. P1 receptors and select P2 receptors act through activation of adenylate cyclase, the same mechanism as forskolin. However, no difference in SCC was seen in activation with NECA on either membrane and ATP applied apically increased SCC compared to controls. While the apical ATP SCC response is complex and involves  $Ca^{2+}$ -dependent signaling, NECA responses are strictly due to increasing cytosolic cAMP. This result is contradictory to the forskolin response observed in PPARy agonist treated monolayers. This observed difference in effect may be due to several different factors. The first possibility is that the NECA response is due to a local increase in cAMP and only local factors are affected. As forskolin activates adenylate cyclase in the whole cell, additional proteins could be activated. A change in expression of forskolin response-activated proteins would result in the difference observed between forskolin and NECA. Another possibility is that the expression of adenylate cyclase has been reduced by PPARy treatment. The association of related proteins in the plasma membrane would explain why the NECA responses are not affected, but when the entire cell cAMP levels are increased the difference is evident. Based on the NECA and apical ATP responses, alteration in forskolin response-activated proteins appears to be the most likely cause of the difference in SCC response to cAMP. However, further research is needed to determine the cause of this difference.

To ensure that PPARy effects on forskolin stimulated anion secretion were not a product of changes in CFTR expression, several experimental methods were employed. Apical membrane studies to were used to evaluate anion flux through CFTR. The use of bdKHS on the basolateral membrane electrically removed the basolateral membrane and created an apical to basolateral chloride gradient. In this preparation, there was no statistical difference between PPARy agonist treated and control cells. However, in the majority of trials, PPAR $\gamma$  agonist treatment increased the apical conductance. To confirm this result, western blot and RT-qPCR experiments were used. Western blot showed no change in CFTR expression, while PCR data showed an increase in CFTR mRNA. Promoter studies were used to determine the genetic effect of PPARy on CFTR transcription. Both pioglitazone and FMOC-L-leucine increased promoter activity of CFTR reporter plasmids in A549 cells. The western blot data shows no change in CFTR expression after PPARy agonist treatment, promoter activity and PCR data show an increase in CFTR transcription, and the functional results are not clear. While CFTR transcription is increased by PPAR $\gamma$  in NHBE cells, it is uncertain if PPAR $\gamma$  causes changes in the expression of CFTR protein. It appears that NHBE cells have a cellular mechanism to regulate the quantity of CFTR translated and expressed on the cell membrane.

The responses to carbachol in control and PPAR $\gamma$  agonist treated cells provide clues to genetic regulation of the calcium-dependent signaling pathway. PPAR $\gamma$  agonist treatment reduced the second-phase of the carbachol response. This reduction is hypothesized to result from a decrease in intracellular calcium. Experiments in lcKHS also demonstrated that this difference is due to decreased Cl<sup>-</sup> secretion by PPAR $\gamma$  treated

monolayers. This result was confirmed in bfKHS as the difference between control and pioglitazone-treated monolayers remained. The effects of PPAR $\gamma$  on the Ca<sup>2+</sup>-signaling pathway appear to be post-receptor as all ion transport modulators that induced anion secretion due to increases in cytosolic Ca<sup>2+</sup> showed reduced SCC in PPAR $\gamma$  agonist treated cells. However, research suggests that the ATP response is due to IP3 receptor activation airway epithelial cells and the decreased calcium responses in NHBE monolayers is likely due to PPAR $\gamma$  regulatory effects on this signaling pathway (74). This decreased anion secretion is not due to changes in calcium-sensitive potassium conductance, as inhibitor experiments showed that K<sup>+</sup> channel activity is not affected by PPAR $\gamma$  activation with pioglitazone, and apical conductance was not affected as mentioned above. The reduction in calcium-activated SCC may be a result of impaired calcium release from the ER.

The response to apical ATP is complex and may involve two separate Ca<sup>2+</sup> dependent signaling pathways. P2Y are receptors expressed on the apical membrane of NHBE cells and it is possible that P2X receptors are also apically expressed. P2X receptors function as plasma membrane calcium channels, while P2Y receptors are metabotropic. In pioglitazone-treated cells, an increase in the first-phase response suggests that P2X receptors may be involved, due to the speed of the anion secretion increase. A reduction in the second-phase response suggests a decrease in P2Y receptor associated Ca<sup>2+</sup>-dependent SCC. The reduction in second-phase response is consistent with observations of other calcium-signaling agonists. The changes in apical ATP response are import for clinical applications of PPARy agonist therapy as ATP-analogues

are in clinical use for treatment of airway disease (7, 41, 54). Further research into the effects of PPAR $\gamma$  on ATP induced anion secretion.

#### 4.3 Future Applications of PPARy Agonists in Airway Disease Therapy

Beyond the current uses of PPARy agonists in metabolic disease therapy, this class of drugs shows potential as a therapy in airway disease. The increase in apical ATP response after PPARy treatment has several important implications for therapy. First, if the increase in SCC due to apical ATP is due to activation of CaCC and other alternate chloride channels, PPARy may prove to be valuable in the treatment of Cystic Fibrosis. ATP analogues have already been used in CF to increase fluid secretion (7), ATP analogues in conjunction with PPAR $\gamma$  agonists may increase the therapeutic benefit. This decreased second-phase of the ATP response is particularly important for evaluating the use for CF therapy. Apical ATP responses are increased in CF, due to increased intracellular calcium (55). This increased intracellular calcium response is due to receptor independent changes in calcium handling (61). If PPARy agonist-treatment reduces the rise in intracellular calcium, it would cause exacerbations in patient symptoms – especially since the responses observed appear to be receptor independent. The use of ATP analogues has also been suggested for the therapy of COPD, as both an activator of P2Y<sub>2</sub> receptors and due to its ability to inhibit NF- $\kappa$ B (22, 68). Since CFTR is active in COPD, the increased apical ATP response would increase the therapeutic benefit of PPARy agonists in COPD.

In addition, PPAR $\gamma$  may be useful as an adjunct to physical therapy. Increased shear stress have been shown to increase ATP release from the apical membrane of

airway epithelial cells (32). Increased shear stress as a result of cough or physical therapy could increase ATP release. PPAR $\gamma$  activation could increase the effectiveness of physical therapies through increased ATP induced anion secretion. High frequency chest wall oscillation (HFCWO) therapy has been shown to increase mucous clearance alone (57), if HFCWO therapy causes increased apical ATP release, PPAR $\gamma$  agonists may increase the effectiveness of this therapy in airway disease. Unfortunately, if P2 receptor activated Ca<sup>2+</sup>-dependent signaling is affected by PPAR $\gamma$  agonists, PPAR $\gamma$  treatment could cause exacerbation of symptoms in CF patients. A possible contraindication of PPAR $\gamma$  agonists in CF therapy is the report of increased upper airway infections caused by pioglitazone used for treatment of metabolic disorders (33). However, before PPAR $\gamma$  agonists can be used as adjunct therapy, more research into the effects of PPAR $\gamma$  on apical ATP response is required.

Due to the nature of PPAR $\gamma$  control of ion transport, it is likely that more than one protein in the calcium-dependent signaling pathway has been affected. The alterations in this signaling pathway may provide clues to the effects of PPAR $\gamma$  in other tissues. PPAR $\gamma$ regulation is specific to individual promoters and cell types; therefore, cell types that express PPAR $\gamma$  regulated genes may be affected in a similar manner to NHBE cells. In addition to the regulation of specific cellular proteins, changes in the Ca<sup>2+</sup> signaling pathway will also alter the function of cells exposed to PPAR $\gamma$  agonists. Calciumdependent signaling is important in inflammation, insulin release, and airway smooth muscle contraction (3, 65, 68, 77, 79, 91). While consistent reduction in SCC in response to agonists that elevate intracellular calcium was observed in NHBE cells exposed to PPAR $\gamma$  agonists, no direct measurements of intracellular calcium were performed.

Downregulation of calcium-dependent signaling may prove advantageous in specific disease states.

PPARy agonist therapy may also be advantageous in treatment of obstructive airway disease. In addition to the anti-inflammatory and ion transport effects of PPARy in the lungs, PPARy agonist treatment may affect bronchoconstriction. Epitheliumdependent bronchodilation is increased by apical ATP activated chloride secretion (27). The increased apical ATP SCC response after PPARy agonist treatment may increase epithelium-dependent bronchodilation. The decrease in calcium-dependent signaling may also improve asthma symptoms. Muscarinic receptors also mediate bronchoconstriction via calcium-dependent signaling in airway smooth muscle (6). Downregulation of the calcium-dependent signaling pathway would ameliorate bronchoconstriction in asthma due to muscarinic activation. Anti-muscarinic therapy has also been suggested as a therapy for COPD (6). If the effects of PPARy on smooth muscle parallel that of the bronchial epithelium, the bronchoconstriction due to other molecules may also be interrupted. However, the effects of PPARy on calcium signaling in airway smooth muscle have not been observed and will require research into the effects of PPARy agonists on airway smooth muscle. In addition to potential effects on bronchoconstriction, PPARy agonists have been shown to exert a more favorable antiinflammatory effect on airway smooth muscle (56). Ciglitazone also inhibits asthmaassociated airway remodeling in the mouse model (35, 44). Asthmatic airways also show increased expression of CaCC-1 (36), and the apparent reduction in  $Ca^{2+}$  signaling after PPARy activation could reduce secretion through CaCC.

## **Chapter 5 Conclusions**

PPAR $\gamma$  represents a novel method of transcriptional control of ion secretion in the lung. While PPAR $\gamma$  is normally associated with regulation of metabolism, in this thesis it was observed to regulate multiple genes involved in lung epithelial ion transport. PPAR $\gamma$ is a genetic regulator of ion transport in human bronchial epithelia – a function that is accomplished through regulation of ion transport proteins and signaling pathways. PPAR $\gamma$  agonists regulate both the cAMP and Ca<sup>2+</sup> signaling pathways activated by a variety of agonists. In addition, it was demonstrated that PPAR $\gamma$  regulates the expression of NBC1 and CFTR.

Forskolin and carbachol responses were examined in detail to determine ionic contributions to the changes in SCC after PPAR $\gamma$  agonist treatment. The reduction in forskolin response was observed to be due to decreased bicarbonate secretion, while the decrease in carbachol SCC was due to chloride secretion. Bicarbonate secretion due to forskolin has been previously observed in the Calu-3 model of submucosal gland cells (21). The reduction in NBC1 expression may partially explain the reduction in forskolin response, but the contribution of carbonic anhydrase was not evaluated.

The effects of PPARγ on expression and function were also examined. PPARγ increased CFTR promoter activity in reporter assays and increased CFTR mRNA detected by PCR. However, functional and western blot data showed that CFTR expression was not increased. This suggests that while CFTR is regulated by PPARγ, homeostatic mechanisms prevent the overexpression of CFTR in NHBE cells.

Purine receptor agonists displayed interesting SCC responses in PPARγ treated cells. NECA responses were not affected at either the apical of basolateral membranes. ATP responses were modulated at both membranes by PPARγ agonists. Apical ATP SCC responses were increased, while basolateral ATP responses were decreased after PPARγ agonist treatment. This difference appears to be the result of increased apical calcium-dependent secretion for the apical membrane response and decreased calcium dependent secretion for the basolateral ATP response. Further research is needed to determine the molecular effects of PPARγ on P2 receptor activated SCC in NHBE cells.

When the response of all intracellular calcium-activating agonists are examined, it can be concluded that the changes in SCC is most likely due to PPAR $\gamma$  effects on the Ca<sup>2+</sup> signaling pathway in NHBE cells. Basolateral carbachol, basolateral ATP, and bilateral thapsigargin responses all show reduced SCC. The apical ATP response also showed a decreased second-phase response possibly implicating decreased intracellular calcium. However, the complexity of the calcium-dependent signaling pathway makes identification of potential targets difficult.

The increased response to apical ATP suggests a potential role of PPAR $\gamma$  agonists as adjunct therapy in lung disease. ATP analogues are currently in clinical use for airway diseases characterized by decreased mucociliary clearance (7, 54). However, if intracellular calcium is decreased, CaCC channels will be less active in PPAR $\gamma$  treated cells, contraindicating the usefulness of PPAR $\gamma$  agonists in cystic fibrosis patients. PPAR $\gamma$  agonists may prove to be useful in asthma and COPD therapy due to their antiinflammatory, anti-muscarinic, and pro-ATP response properties. Additionally, the apparent reduction in anion secretion may not be deleterious in mild airway disease

phenotypes. Corticosteroids are commonly used in asthma and COPD and these drugs increase sodium absorption in airway epithelia (60). The net effect of increasing sodium absorption is the same as reducing anion secretion – reduction in ASL volume. Clinical studies could demonstrate whether the reduction in anion secretion is detrimental in patients with inflammatory airway disease.

There are several important considerations when examining the research presented in this thesis. First, the expression of cell surface receptors was not examined. While the decreases in Ca<sup>2+</sup> signaling occurred regardless of agonist, the expression of cell surface receptors may explain some of the differences observed. Second, PPAR $\gamma$ agonists may prove useful for the treatment of airway disease. Finally, the Ussing chamber preparation is independent of local modulators released by smooth muscle, local nerves, and other cells. While NHBE cells appear to absorb sodium in their basal state, they may have a secretory function with the combined effect of local modulators occurs in vivo. Both muscarinic and  $\beta$ -adrenergic receptors are present on lung epithelial cells and may contribute to the net ion transport observed in these cells in vivo (66, 91). The research presented in this thesis shows that PPAR $\gamma$  is a regulator of ion transport in NHBE cells. Endogenous PPAR $\gamma$  agonists are local modulators that regulate the ion transport of NHBE cells in both basal and disease states. Exogenous PPAR $\gamma$  agonists may provide an effective therapy in a wide variety of airway diseases.

# Bibliography

1. **Agnel M, Vermat T, and Culouscou J-M.** Identification of three novel members of the calcium-dependent chloride channel (CaCC) family predominantly expressed in the digestive tract and trachea. *FEBS Letters* 455: 295, 1999.

2. **Barbier O, Duran-Sandoval D, Pineda-Torra I, Kosykh V, Fruchart J-C, and Staels B.** Peroxisome Proliferator-activated Receptor-α Induces Hepatic Expression of the Human Bile Acid Glucuronidating UDP-glucuronosyltransferase 2B4 Enzyme. *J Biol Chem* 278: 32852-32860, 2003.

3. **Barnes PJ.** Muscarinic receptors in airways: recent developments. *J Appl Physiol* 68: 1777-1785, 1990.

4. Barroso I, Gurnell M, Crowley VEF, Agostini M, Schwabe JW, Soos MA, Maslen GL, Williams TDM, Lewis H, Schafer AJ, Chatterjee VKK, and O'Rahilly S. Dominant negative mutations in human PPAR- $\gamma$  associated with severe insulin resistance, diabetes mellitus and hypertension. *Nature* 402: 880, 1999.

5. Bell-Parikh LC, Ide T, Lawson JA, McNamara P, Reilly M, and FitzGerald GA. Biosynthesis of 15-deoxy- $\{\Delta\}$ 12,14-PGJ2 and the ligation of PPAR $\gamma$ . J Clin Invest 112: 945-955, 2003.

6. **Belmonte KE.** Cholinergic Pathways in the Lungs and Anticholinergic Therapy for Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. *Proc Am Thorac Soc* 2: 297-304, 2005.

7. Bennett W, Olivier K, Zeman K, Hohneker K, Boucher R, and Knowles M. Effect of uridine 5'-triphosphate plus amiloride on mucociliary clearance in adult cystic fibrosis. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 153: 1796-1801, 1996.

8. Berger H, Anderson M, Gregory R, Thomson S, Howard P, Maurer R, Mulligan R, Smith A, and Welsh M. Identification and regulation of the cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator-generated chloride channel. *J Clin Invest* 88: 1422-1431, 1991.

9. Boucher R, Cotton C, Gatzy J, Knowles M, and Yankaskas J. Evidence for reduced Cl<sup>-</sup> and increased Na<sup>+</sup> permeability in cystic fibrosis human primary cell cultures. *J Physiol (Lond)* 405: 77-103, 1988.

10. **Bucheimer RE and Linden J.** Purinergic regulation of epithelial transport. J *Physiol (Lond)* 555: 311-321, 2004.

11. Canessa CM, Schild L, Buell G, Thorens B, Gautschi I, Horisberger J-D, and Rossier BC. Amiloride-sensitive epithelial Na<sup>+</sup> channel is made of three homologous subunits. *Nature* 367: 463, 1994.

12. Carl A, Frey BW, Ward SM, Sanders KM, and Kenyon JL. Inhibition of slow-wave repolarization and  $Ca^{2^+}$ -activated K<sup>+</sup> channels by quaternary ammonium ions. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 264: C625-631, 1993.

13. Chen Y, Cann M, Litvvin T, Iourgenko V, Sinclair M, Levin L, and Buck J. Soluble Andenylyl Cyclase as an Evolutionary Conserved Bicarbonate Sensor. *Science* 289: 623-628, 2000.

14. Corton JC, Apte U, Anderson SP, Limaye P, Yoon L, Latendresse J, Dunn C, Everitt JI, Voss KA, Swanson C, Kimbrough C, Wong JS, Gill SS, Chandraratna RAS, Kwak M-K, Kensler TW, Stulnig TM, Steffensen KR, Gustafsson J-A, and Mehendale HM. Mimetics of Caloric Restriction Include Agonists of Lipid-activated Nuclear Receptors. J Biol Chem 279: 46204-46212, 2004.

15. **Cuppoletti J, Tewari KP, Sherry AM, Kupert EY, and Malinowska DH.** ClC-2 Cl<sup>-</sup> channels in human lung epithelia: activation by arachidonic acid, amidation, and acid-activated omeprazole. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 281: C46-54, 2001.

16. **Cuthbert AW.** Assessment of CFTR chloride channel openers in intact normal and cystic fibrosis murine epithelia. 132: 659, 2001.

17. **Cuthbert AW.** Disease genes: flattery and deception. *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences* 23: 504, 2002.

18. Cuzzocrea S, Pisano B, Dugo L, Ianaro A, Maffia P, Patel NSA, Di Paola R, Ialenti A, Genovese T, and Chatterjee PK. Rosiglitazone, a ligand of the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- $\gamma$ , reduces acute inflammation. *European Journal of Pharmacology* 483: 79, 2004.

19. **Desvergne B and Wahli W.** Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptors: Nuclear Control of Metabolism. *Endocr Rev* 20: 649-688, 1999.

20. **Devor DC, Singh AK, Gerlach AC, Frizzell RA, and Bridges RJ.** Inhibition of intestinal Cl<sup>-</sup> secretion by clotrimazole: direct effect on basolateral membrane K<sup>+</sup> channels. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 273: C531-540, 1997.

21. Devor DC, Singh AK, Lambert LC, DeLuca A, Frizzell RA, and Bridges RJ. Bicarbonate and Chloride Secretion in Calu-3 Human Airway Epithelial Cells. *J Gen Physiol* 113: 743-760, 1999.

22. **Donnelly LE and Rogers DF.** Therapy for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in the 21st century. *Drugs* 63: 1973, 2003.

23. **Duta V, Szkotak AJ, Nahirney D, and Duszyk M.** The role of bestrophin in airway epithelial ion transport. *FEBS Letters* 577: 551, 2004.

24. Edmonds RD, Silva IV, Guggino WB, Butler RB, Zeitlin PL, and Blaisdell CJ. Pre- and Postnatal Lung Development, Maturation, and Plasticity: ClC-5: ontogeny of an alternative chloride channel in respiratory epithelia. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* 282: L501-507, 2002.

25. Fernandez-Fernandez JM, Nobles M, Currid A, Vazquez E, and Valverde MA. Maxi K<sup>+</sup> channel mediates regulatory volume decrease response in a human bronchial epithelial cell line. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 283: C1705-1714, 2002.

26. **Firsov D, Gautschi I, Merillat A-M, Rossier BC, and Schild L.** The heterotetrameric architecture of the epithelial sodium channel (ENaC). *EMBO J* 17: 344-352, 1998.

27. Fortner CN, Lorenz JN, and Paul RJ. Chloride channel function is linked to epithelium-dependent airway relaxation. *AJP - Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology* 280: L334, 2001.

28. Frübeck G, Gómez-Ambrosi J, Muruzábal FJ, and Burrell MA. The adipocyte: a model for integration of endocrine and metabolic signaling in energy metabolism regulation. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 280: E827-E847, 2001.

29. Fullert S, Schneider F, Haak E, Rau H, Badenhoop K, Lubben G, Usadel KH, and Konrad T. Effects of Pioglitazone in Nondiabetic Patients with Arterial Hypertension: A Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Study. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 87: 5503-5506, 2002.
30. **Fulmer SB, Schwiebert EM, Morales MM, Guggino WB, and Cutting GR.** Two Cystic Fibrosis Transmembrane Conductance Regulator Mutations Have Different Effects on Both Pulmonary Phenotype and Regulation of Outwardly Rectified Chloride Currents. *PNAS* 92: 6832-6836, 1995.

31. **Gross E and Hopfer U.** Effects of pH on Kinetic Parameters of the Na-HCO<sub>3</sub> Cotransporter in Renal Proximal Tubule. *Biophys J* 76: 3066-3075, 1999.

32. **Guyot A and Hanrahan JW.** ATP release from human airway epithelial cells studied using a capillary cell culture system. *J Physiol (Lond)* 545: 199-206, 2002.

33. Henney JE. New Type 2 Diabetes Drugs. JAMA 282: 932-, 1999.

34. Hentchel-Franks K, Lozano D, Eubanks-Tarn V, Cobb B, Fan L, Oster R, Sorscher E, and Clancy JP. Activation of Airway Cl<sup>-</sup> Secretion in Human Subjects by Adenosine. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 31: 140-146, 2004.

35. Honda K, Marquillies P, Capron M, and Dombrowicz D. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma is expressed in airways and inhibits features of airway remodeling in a mouse asthma model. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 113: 882, 2004.

36. Hoshino M, Morita S, Iwashita H, Sagiya Y, Nagi T, Nakanishi A, Ashida Y, Nishimura O, Fujisawa Y, and Fujino M. Increased Expression of the Human Ca<sup>2+</sup>- activated Cl<sup>-</sup> Channel 1 (CaCC1) Gene in the Asthmatic Airway. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 165: 1132, 2002.

37. Huang P, Lazarowski ER, Tarran R, Milgram SL, Boucher RC, and Stutts MJ. From the Cover: Compartmentalized autocrine signaling to cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator at the apical membrane of airway epithelial cells. *PNAS* 98: 14120-14125, 2001.

38. Jeulin C, Fournier J, Marano F, and Dazy AC. Effects of hydroxyl radicals on outwardly rectifying chloride channels in a cultured human bronchial cell line (16HBE14o-). *Pflügers Archiv European Journal of Physiology* 439: 331, 2000.

39. Juge-Aubry C, Pernin A, Favez T, Burger AG, Wahli W, Meier CA, and Desvergne B. DNA Binding Properties of Peroxisome Proliferator-activated Receptor Subtypes on Various Natural Peroxisome Proliferator Response Elements.

IMPORTANCE OF THE 5'-FLANKING REGION. Journal of Biological Chemistry 272: 25252, 1997.

40. **Jun ES, Kim YS, Yoo MA, Roh HJ, and Jung JS.** Changes in expression of ion channels and aquaporins mRNA during differentiation in normal human nasal epithelial cells. *Life Sciences* 68: 827, 2001.

41. Kellerman D, Evans R, Mathews D, and Shaffer C. Inhaled P2Y2 receptor agonists as a treatment for patients with Cystic Fibrosis lung disease. *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews* 54: 1463, 2002.

42. Kim H-i, Cha J-Y, Kim S-Y, Kim J-w, Roh KJ, Seong J-K, Lee NT, Choi K-Y, Kim K-S, and Ahn Y-h. Peroxisomal Proliferator-Activated Receptor- $\gamma$  Upregulates Glucokinase Gene Expression in  $\beta$ -Cells. *Diabetes* 51: 676-685, 2002.

43. **Kunzelmann K.** ENaC is inhibited by an increase in the intracellular Cl<sup>-</sup> concentration mediated through activation of Cl<sup>-</sup> channels. *Pflügers Archiv European Journal of Physiology* 445: 504, 2003.

44. Lee KS, Park SJ, Hwang PH, Yi HK, Song CH, Chai OH, Kim J-S, Lee MK, and Lee YC. PPARγ modulates allergic inflammation through up-regulation of PTEN. *FASEB J*: 04-3309fje, 2005.

45. Liang L, Zsembery A, and Schwiebert EM. RNA interference targeted to multiple P2X receptor subtypes attenuates zinc-induced calcium entry. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 289: C388-396, 2005.

46. **MacVinish LJ, Guo Y, Dixon AK, Murrell-Lagnado RD, and Cuthbert AW.** XE991 Reveals Differences in K<sup>+</sup> Channels Regulating Chloride Secretion in Murine Airway and Colonic Epithelium. *Molecular Pharmacology* 60: 753, 2001.

47. **Mall M, Bleich M, Greger R, Schreiber R, and Kunzelmann K.** The Amiloride-inhibitable Na<sup>+</sup> Conductance Is Reduced by the Cystic Fibrosis Transmembrane Conductance Regulator in Normal But Not in Cystic Fibrosis Airways. *J Clin Invest* 102: 15-21, 1998.

48. Mall M, Gonska T, Thomas J, Schreiber R, Seydewitz HH, Kuehr J, Brandis M, and Kunzelmann K. Modulation of Ca<sup>2+</sup>-Activated Cl<sup>-</sup> Secretion by Basolateral K<sup>+</sup>

Channels in Human Normal and Cystic Fibrosis Airway Epithelia. *Pediatr Res* 53: 608-618, 2003.

49. Mall M, Wissner A, Schreiber R, Kuehr J, Seydewitz HH, Brandis M, Greger R, and Kunzelmann K. Role of KVLQT1 in Cyclic Adenosine Monophosphate-Mediated Cl<sup>-</sup> Secretion in Human Airway Epithelia. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 23: 283-289, 2000.

50. McCann JD and Welsh MJ. Basolateral  $K^+$  channels in airway epithelia. II. Role in Cl<sup>-</sup> secretion and evidence for two types of  $K^+$  channel. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* 258: L343-348, 1990.

51. Miyata KS, McCaw SE, Marcus SL, Rachubinski RA, and Capone JP. The peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor interacts with the retinoid X receptor in vivo. *Gene* 148: 327, 1994.

52. Miyazaki Y, Mahankali A, Matsuda M, Glass L, Mahankali S, Ferrannini E, Cusi K, Mandarino LJ, and DeFronzo RA. Improved Glycemic Control and Enhanced Insulin Sensitivity in Type 2 Diabetic Subjects Treated With Pioglitazone. *Diabetes Care* 24: 710-719, 2001.

53. **Mo L and Wills NK.** ClC-5 Chloride Channel Alters Expression of the Epithelial Sodium Channel (ENaC). *Journal of Membrane Biology* 202: 21, 2004.

54. Noone PG, Bennett WD, Regnis JA, Zeman KL, Carson JL, King M, Boucher RC, and Knowles MR. Effect of Aerosolized Uridine-5'-Triphosphate on Airway Clearance with Cough in Patients with Primary Ciliary Dyskinesia. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 160: 144-149, 1999.

55. **Paradiso AM, Ribeiro CMP, and Boucher RC.** Polarized Signaling via Purinoceptors in Normal and Cystic Fibrosis Airway Epithelia. *The Journal of General Physiology* 117: 53, 2000.

56. **Patel HJ, Belvisi MG, Bishop-Bailey D, Yacoub MH, and Mitchell JA.** Activation of Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptors in Human Airway Smooth Muscle Cells Has a Superior Anti-inflammatory Profile to Corticosteroids: Relevance for Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease Therapy. *The Journal of Immunology* 170: 2663, 2003. 57. **Perry RJ, Man GC, and Jones RL.** Effects of positive end-expiratory pressure on oscillated flow rate during high-frequency chest compression. *Chest* 113: 1028-1033, 1998.

58. **Pilewski JM and Frizzell RA.** Role of CFTR in Airway Disease. *Physiol Rev* 79: 215-255, 1999.

59. **Powell WS.** 15-deoxy- $\Delta$ 12,14-PGJ2: endogenous PPAR $\gamma$  ligand or minor eicosanoid degradation product? *J Clin Invest* 112: 828-830, 2003.

60. **Ramminger SJ, Richard K, Inglis SK, Land SC, Olver RE, and Wilson SM.** A regulated apical Na<sup>+</sup> conductance in dexamethasone-treated H441 airway epithelial cells. *AJP - Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology* 287: L411, 2004.

61. **Ribeiro CMP, Paradiso AM, Carew MA, Shears SB, and Boucher RC.** Cystic Fibrosis Airway Epithelial  $Ca^{2^+}$ - Signaling: THE MECHANISM FOR THE LARGER AGONIST-MEDIATED  $Ca^{2^+}$ -SIGNALS IN HUMAN CYSTIC FIBROSIS AIRWAY EPITHELIA. *J Biol Chem* 280: 10202-10209, 2005.

62. Riordan JR, Rommens JM, Kerem B, Alon N, Rozmahel R, Grzelczak Z, Zielenski J, Lok S, Plavsic N, Chou JL, and et al. Identification of the cystic fibrosis gene: cloning and characterization of complementary DNA. *Science* 245: 1066-1073, 1989.

63. **Ristow M, Muller-Wieland D, Pfeiffer A, Krone W, and Kahn CR.** Obesity Associated with a Mutation in a Genetic Regulator of Adipocyte Differentiation. *N Engl J Med* 339: 953-959, 1998.

64. **Ruiz OS and Arruda JA.** Regulation of the renal Na-HCO<sub>3</sub> cotransporter by cAMP and Ca-dependent protein kinases. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* 262: F560-565, 1992.

65. **Rutter G, Xavier GDS, and Leclerc I.** Roles of 5'-AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) in mammalian glucose homoeostasis. *Biochem J* 375: 1-16, 2003.

66. Salathe M. Effects of  $\beta$ -agonists on airway epithelial cells. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 110: S275, 2002.

67. Salvatore C, Barbara P, Laura D, Angela I, Domenico B, Nimesh SAP, RosannaDi P, Tiziana G, MassimoDi R, Achille PC, and Christoph T. Rosiglitazone, a ligand of the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma, reduces acute pancreatitis induced by cerulein. *Intensive Care Medicine* 30: 951, 2004.

68. Scher JU and Pillinger MH. 15d-PGJ2: The anti-inflammatory prostaglandin? *Clinical Immunology* 114: 100, 2005.

69. Schoonjans K, Staels B, and Auwerx J. Role of the peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor (PPAR) in mediating the effects of fibrates and fatty acids on gene expression. *J Lipid Res* 37: 907-925, 1996.

70. Schwiebert E, Cid-Soto L, Stafford D, Carter M, Blaisdell C, Zeitlin P, Guggino W, and Cutting G. Analysis of ClC-2 channels as an alternative pathway for chloride conduction in cystic fibrosis airway epithelial cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 95: 3879-3884, 1998.

71. Schwiebert EM, Flotte T, Cutting GR, and Guggino WB. Both CFTR and outwardly rectifying chloride channels contribute to cAMP-stimulated whole cell chloride currents. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 266: C1464-1477, 1994.

72. Schwiebert EM, Morales MM, Devidas S, Egan ME, and Guggino WB. Chloride channel and chloride conductance regulator domains of CFTR, the cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator. *PNAS* 95: 2674-2679, 1998.

73. Sherry AM, Stroffekova K, Knapp LM, Kupert EY, Cuppoletti J, and Malinowska DH. Characterization of the human pH- and PKA-activated ClC-2G( $2\alpha$ ) Cl<sup>-</sup> channel. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 273: C384-393, 1997.

74. Sienaert I, Huyghe S, Parys JB, Malfait M, Kunzelmann K, De Smedt H, Verleden GM, and Missiaen L. ATP-induced Ca<sup>2+</sup> signals in bronchial epithelial cells. *Pflügers Archiv European Journal of Physiology* 436: 40, 1998.

75. **Smith J and Welsh M.** Fluid and Electrolyte Transport by Cultured Human Airway Epithelia. *J Clin Invest* 91: 1590-1597, 1993.

76. Song J, Knepper MA, Hu X, Verbalis JG, and Ecelbarger CA. Rosiglitazone Activates Renal Sodium- and Water-Reabsorptive Pathways and Lowers Blood Pressure in Normal Rats. *Journal of Pharmacology And Experimental Therapeutics* 308: 426, 2004.

77. **Standiford TJ, Keshamouni VG, and Reddy RC.** Peroxisome Proliferatoractivated Receptor- $\gamma$  as a Regulator of Lung Inflammation and Repair. *Proc Am Thorac Soc* 2: 226-231, 2005.

78. Steinmeyer K, Schwappach B, Bens M, Vandewalle A, and Jentsch TJ. Cloning and Functional Expression of Rat CLC-5, a Chloride Channel Related to Kidney Disease. *J Biol Chem* 270: 31172-31177, 1995.

79. Straub SG and Sharp GWG. Glucose-stimulated signaling pathways in biphasic insulin secretion. *Diabetes/Metabolism Research and Reviews* 18: 451-463, 2002.

80. Szkotak AJ, Man SFP, and Duszyk M. The Role of the Basolateral Outwardly Rectifying Chloride Channel in Human Airway Epithelial Anion Secretion. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 29: 710-720, 2003.

81. **Taylor AL, Schwiebert LM, Smith JJ, King C, Jones JR, Sorscher EJ, and Schwiebert EM.** Epithelial P2X purinergic receptor channel expression and function. *J Clin Invest* 104: 875-884, 1999.

82. Thiemann A, Grunder S, Pusch M, and Jentsch TJ. A chloride channel widely expressed in epithelial and non-epithelial cells. *Nature* 356: 57, 1992.

83. Wang ACC, Dai X, Luu B, and Conrad DJ. Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor-γ Regulates Airway Epithelial Cell Activation. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 24: 688-693, 2001.

84. Wei L, Vankeerberghen A, Cuppens H, Cassiman J-J, Droogmans G, and Nilius B. The C-terminal part of the R-domain, but not the PDZ binding motif, of CFTR is involved in interaction with  $Ca^{2^+}$  - activated Cl<sup>-</sup> channels. *Pflügers Archiv European Journal of Physiology* 442: 280, 2001.

85. Welsh M and Smith J. cAMP Stimulation of HCO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> Secretion Across Airway Epithelia. *J Pancreas* 2: 291-293, 2001.

86. Wolff SC, Qi A-D, Harden TK, and Nicholas RA. Polarized expression of human P2Y receptors in epithelial cells from kidney, lung, and colon. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 288: C624-632, 2005.

87. Wu DXY, Lee CYC, Uyekubo SN, Choi HK, Bastacky SJ, and Widdicombe JH. Regulation of the depth of surface liquid in bovine trachea. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* 274: L388-395, 1998.

88. Wuttke M, Buck J, and Levin L. Bicarbonate-Regulated Soluble Adenylyl Cyclase. *J Pancreas* 2: 154-158, 2001.

89. Xu HE, Lambert MH, Montana VG, Plunket KD, Moore LB, Collins JL, Oplinger JA, Kliewer SA, Gampe RT, Jr., McKee DD, Moore JT, and Willson TM. Structural determinants of ligand binding selectivity between the peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptors. *PNAS* 98: 13919-13924, 2001.

90. Yu JG, Javorschi S, Hevener AL, Kruszynska YT, Norman RA, Sinha M, and Olefsky JM. The Effect of Thiazolidinediones on Plasma Adiponectin Levels in Normal, Obese, and Type 2 Diabetic Subjects. *Diabetes* 51: 2968-2974, 2002.

91. Zaagsma J, Roffel A, and Meurs H. Muscarinic Control of Airway Function. *Life Sciences* 60: 1061-1068, 1997.

92. Zaczek R, Chorvat RJ, Saye JA, Pierdomenico ME, Maciag CM, Logue AR, Fisher BN, Rominger DH, and Earl RA. Two New Potent Neurotransmitter Release Enhancers, 10,10-Bis(4-Pyridinylmethyl)-9(10H)-Anthracenone and 10,10-Bis(2-Fluoro-4-Pyridinylmethyl)-9(10H)-Anthracenone: Comparison to Linopirdine. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 285: 724-730, 1998.

93. **Zippin J, Levin L, and Buck J.** CO<sub>2</sub>/HCO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> responsive soluble adenylyl cyclase as a putative metabolic sensor. *Trends in Endocrinology & Metabolism* 12: 366-370, 2001.

94. **Zsembery A, Boyce AT, Liang L, Peti-Peterdi J, Bell PD, and Schwiebert EM.** Sustained Calcium Entry through P2X Nucleotide Receptor Channels in Human Airway Epithelial Cells. *J Biol Chem* 278: 13398-13408, 2003.